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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934 FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010
Or
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to
Commission file number 1-10113
ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its @rart
New York 11-085364C
(State or other jurisdiction of Incorporation oganization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No
616 N. North Court, Suite 120, Palatine, lllinois 60067
(Address of principal administrative offic (Zip code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area c@4igé:705 7709

Securities registered pursuant to section 12(b) dhe Act:
Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share

Securities registered pursuant to section 12(g) tfie Act:
(Title of Class)
None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a walbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405c06#turities Act.
YesO No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ort®ecl5(d) of the Act.
YesO No

Indicate by check mark whether the registranth@s filed all reports required to be filed by Sewtl3 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for ssitbrter period that the registrant was requirefilécsuch reports), and (2) has been su
to such filing requirements for the past 90 dayssXl No [J

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant hemnitted electronically and posted on its corpok&feb site, if any, every Interactive D
File required to be submitted and posted pursuaRule 405 of Regulation $8232.405 of this chapter) during the precedi@grionths (c
for such shorter period that the registrant wasired to submit and post such files). Yds No [

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquétgrs pursuant to Item 405 of RegulationkKS(8229.405 of this chapter is not contai
herein, and will not be contained, to the bestegistrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or infaation statements incorporated by referen
Part IIl of this Form 10-K or any amendment to thaem 10-K.[X]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, n-accelerated filer, or a smaller repor
company.

O Large Accelerated Fildrl Accelerated FileiXI Non-Accelerated Filell Smaller Reporting Company.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantseell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the BExgje Act). Yed]l No

Based on the last sale price on the NASDAQ Captatket of the Common Stock on June 30, 201$2.51) (the last business day of
registrant's most recently completed second figaatter), the aggregate market value of the vattngk held by noraffiliates of the registra
was approximately $26.0 million.

As of February 28, 2011, the registrant had 44Z8®,shares of Common Stock, par value $0.01,andatg.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCHPortions of the Proxy Statement for the registeaAtinual Meeting of Shareholders to
be held on or about April 28, 2011 are incorpordtgdeference into Part 11l of this Annual Reponteorm 10-K.
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Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements in this Report constitute "fodalaoking statements" within the meaning of the Pmv&ecurities Litigatic
Reform Act of 1995. Such forwaldeking statements involve known and unknown rigkscertainties and other factors which may caus
actual results, performance or achievements to atenmlly different from any future results, perfaance, or achievements expresse
implied by such forwardeoking statements. The most significant of suattdes include, but are not limited to, our abilépd the ability ¢
King Pharmaceuticals Research and Development(1Kking”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of King Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,wtwom we hav
licensed our Aversion®echnology for certain opioid analgesic productsthie United States, Canada and Mexico) and thetyalothel
pharmaceutical companies, if any, to whom we magnise our Aversion®@echnology or Impede™ Technology, to obtain neagssgulator
approvals and commercialize products utilizing steethnologies, the ability to avoid infringementpaftents, trademarks and other proprie
rights of third parties, and the ability to fulfithe U.S. Food and Drug Administration’s (“FDAfgquirements for approving our prod
candidates for commercial manufacturing and distidn in the United States, including, without Iltation, the adequacy of the results of
laboratory and clinical studies completed to daig the results of laboratory and clinical studiesmay complete in the future to support F
approval of our product candidates, the adequadiieoflevelopment program for our product candidatetuding whether additional clinic
studies will be required to support FDA approvabaf product candidates, changes in regulatoryireopents, adverse safety findings rela
to our product candidates, the risk that the FDA/ mat agree with our analysis of our clinical segland may evaluate the results of t
studies by different methods or conclude that #uiits of the studies are not statistically sigaifit, clinically meaningful or that there w
human errors in the conduct of the studies or iglethat further studies of our product candidates not positive or otherwise do not sup
FDA approval, whether or when we are able to ob¥A approval of labeling for our product candidafer the proposed indications or
abuse deterrent features, whether our product datedi will ultimately deter abuse in commerciatisgs, and the uncertainties inherer
scientific research, drug development, laboratorg elinical trials and the regulatory approval mes. Other important factors that may
affect future results include, but are not limitedour ability to attract and retain skilled parsel; our ability to secure and protect our pat
trademarks and other proprietary rights; litigatmmregulatory action that could require us to ganificant damages or change the way
conduct our business; our ability to compete sigfallg against current and future competitors; dependence on thinparty suppliers of ra
materials; our ability to secure U.S. Drug EnforeamAdministration ("DEA") quotas and source théivecingredients for our products
development; difficulties or delays in conductinmical trials for our product candidates or in tb@mmercial manufacture and supply of
products; and other risks and uncertainties detditethis Report. When used in this Report, the dgotestimate,” "project,” "anticipat

"expect,” "intend,” "believe," and similar expresss identify forward-looking statements.

PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

We are a specialty pharmaceutical company engagedsearch, development and manufacture of procuudidates intended
provide abuse deterrent features and benefitzingliour proprietary Aversion® and Impede™ Techgae. Our Aversion®Technolog
opioid analgesic product candidates are intendedffectively relieve pain while simultaneously discaging common methods of opi
product misuse and abuse, including the:

« intravenous injection of dissolved tablets or cégs!
« nasal snorting of crushed tablets or capsules
« intentional swallowing of excess quantities of &blor capsules (when product candidates are fatedilvith niacin)

We and our licensee, King are jointly developingoap analgesic product candidates both with ancheuit niacin utilizing ot
patented Aversion® Technology. In addition to Amx® (oxycodone HCI) Tablets, we and King are depilg Vycavert® (hydrocodon
bitartrate/acetaminophen) Tablets, Acurééixycodone HCI/ acetaminophen) Tablets, Acuraxith Niacin (oxycodone HCl/niacin) Tabl
and additional undisclosed opioid product candslatélizing our Aversion®Technology. We and King have submitted a New |
Application (NDA) for Acurox®with Niacin Tablets. Four opioid product candidafeoth with and without niacin) are licensed tmdkunde
our License, Development and Commercialization Agrent dated October 30, 2007. We are also devegjagm undisclosed benzodiazej
tablet product candidate utilizing Aversion&chnology intended for the treatment of anxietyodiers, and a pseudoephedrine HCI t
product utilizing Impede™ Technology intended faatment of nasal congestion.




All of our opioid product candidates utilize Avessi® Technology (both with and without niacin) and aovered by issued U.
patents, which in combination with our anticipafg@duct labeling and drug product listing strategége anticipated to provide our opi
products with barriers to market entry for geneompetition through the expiration of our patent2025.

In addition to our Aversion®Technology, as part of our continuing researchreffove are investigating and developing n
mechanisms to incorporate abuse deterrent featatesabused and misused pharmaceutical produotghis regard we have develo)
Impede™ PSE, a pseudoephedrine hydrochloride (“P&iblet product candidate utilizing our Impede™ Trealbgy. Impede™ Technolo
utilizes a proprietary mixture of functional inaatiingredients intended to limit or impede extractdf PSE from tablets for use as a sta
material in producing the illicit drug methamphetaen An 18 subject clinical study demonstrated loypede™ PSE Tablets are bioequive
to Sudafed®brand PSE tablets and a leading generic PSE starel tablet. We are currently negotiating withoatcact manufacturer for t
scale up and commercial manufacture of our Imped®SE Tablets. It is our current expectation to readur Impede™ PSE Tablets dire
to national and regional drug store chains.

Acurox ® Tablets is an orally administered immediate rele@ddet containing oxycodone hydrochloride (HCI) itss sole activ
analgesic ingredient and is intended for the ralfefnoderate to severe pain. On December 17, ih@, submitted a New Drug Applicati
(“NDA") for Acurox ® Tablets to the FDA, including a request for pripnéview classification. On February 10, 2011 tieAmotified King of
the FDA's acceptance for filing of the Acur@xTablets NDA and the grant of a priority review didisation. The priority review classificati
establishes a non-binding date of June 17, 201thinFDA to complete its review of the Acuroxi@blets NDA under the Prescription D
User Fee Act (PDUFA). In addition to filing actapce and assignment of a Priority review classiiiic, the FDAS filing communicatio
letter to King also includes preliminary commenk®uat potential review issues relating to an intsmhabuse liability study included in -
NDA and requests additional information relatingthis study and other issues. The preliminary agotf potential review issues is
indicative of deficiencies that may be identifiearidg the FDAS review of the NDA. No assurance can be givehdhg issues raised as |
of the FDA'’s review of the Acuro® NDA (including the potential review issues in thBA® s filing communication letter) will be addresse
the FDA's satisfaction or that the Acur@XNDA will be approved by the FDA. AcurdXTablets utilizes our patented Aversioff@chnolog
which is designed to limit or impede abuse by wereous injection of dissolved tablets and nasaltsrgof crushed tablets. A separate N
for Acurox® with Niacin (oxycodone HCl/niacin) Tablets, whichdesigned to deter intravenous, nasal, and alyusgdess oral consumptit
is subject to an FDA Complete Response Letter. eémwv under the caption “AcurdkTablets Development Program - Acurox@th Niacir
Tablets” for the status of our response to the FD@oOmplete Response Letter.

The misuse and abuse of pharmaceutical producgeneral, and opioid analgesics in particular, isigmificant societal proble
described as epidemic in nature. It is estimated 75 million people in the U.S. suffer from paamd, according to U.S. government surv
35.0 million people, or more than 10% of the U.Spulation, have used prescription opioid analgesmsmedically at some point in th
lifetime. We expect our Aversion®@echnology opioid product candidates to competenarily in the market for immediate release og
products (“IR Opioid Products\vhich are commonly prescribed for relief of paim fturations generally less than 30 days. In 20U%
Health reported 260 million prescriptions dispenf@dopioid analgesic tablets and capsules, of Wwiaipproximately 244 million were for
Opioid Products and 16 million were for extendekbase opioid tablet and capsule products (“ER @pRyioducts”)which are common
prescribed for relief of chronic pain for duratioreging from several weeks to several months ngdo. We have contracted, througt
independent market research firm, numerous madsstarch studies including two which surveyed 401 486 opioid analgesic prescrib
U.S. based physicians, respectively. These stugiesaled that physicians are keenly aware of dpévialgesic abuse and are perso
concerned with the potential impact of drug abusetheir respective medical practices. Our study@f physicians indicated that of
prescriptions likely to be written for our prodwztndidates that utilize the analgesic oxycodon&b B8l be switched from immediate relei
products containing either hydrocodone or oxycodavith the remaining 41%being switched from other currently marketed op@aiélgesi
products such as codeine, propoxyphene, morphitetramadol. Ninetfeur percent (94%) of 401 physicians surveyed iatdid they woul
either prescribe one of the Aversion@echnology products (with or without niacin) prefil in the market research questionnaire for ol
their last five patients receiving an opioid préstion or they are aware of a patient in their piccfor whom Aversion® Technology opioi
analgesic products (with or without niacin) woulel &n appropriate choice. These studies suggeastetpardless of whether Acur§xTablet:
contain or do not contain niacin, Acur@has the potential to garner a substantial shaimwofediate release opioid analgesic prescript
although there can be no assurance in this regard.




We have established and intend to pursue futurgesgfic alliances and licensing agreements with rpheeutical companies
augment and enhance our ability to develop and centiadize our product candidates. We also intenpursue the iticense or acquisition
product candidates and technologies to expand otifopio of abuse deterrent technologies and prodandidates. In October 2007, w
entered into a License, Development and Commezaiidin Agreement with King to develop and commeéizgacertain opioid analge:
products utilizing our proprietary Aversion® Techogy, including Acurox® Tablets. The King Agreement initially provided Igirwith ar
exclusive license in the United States, CanadaMexico (the “King Territory”) to AcuroX® Tablets (with and without niacin) and Acura@et
(oxycodone HCl/acetaminophen) Tablets (with and eitmiacin), and an option to license future opiaidhlgesic product candidates utiliz
our Aversion®Technology (with and without niacin) in the KingrTieory. In May and December 2008, King exercigisdption and licenst
an undisclosed opioid analgesic tablet product ancavert® with Niacin (hydrocodone bitartrate/niacin/acetaopihen) Tablet
respectively. Under the terms of the King Agreetn&ing made an upfront cash payment to us of $80om As of February 28, 2011, \
had received an additional $28.4 million from Kiimgthe form of milestone payments, option fees agidhbursement for research i
development expenses. In addition, we are elidimduture regulatory and sales milestone paymeweisjbursement for certain research
development expenses and royalties on combinedahmet sales of all products commercialized untlerKing Agreement. On January
2011, Pfizer Inc. (“Pfizer”announced completion of a tender offer acquisitdrKing Pharmaceuticals, Inc., resulting in Kingcbming
majority-owned subsidiary of Pfizer. Pfizer publi@announced it intends to complete a shHorth merger with King on or about February
2011, pursuant to which King will become a wholkted subsidiary of Pfizer.

We conduct research, development, laboratory, naatwfing, and warehousing activities at our operetifacility in Culver, Indiar
and lease an administrative office in Palatinéndis. In addition to internal capabilities andigities, we engage numerous clinical rese
organizations (“CROs"ith expertise in regulatory affairs, clinical trdesign and monitoring, clinical data managembiustatistics, medic
writing, laboratory testing and related servic&sich CROs perform, under our direction, developnaaak regulatory services relating to
technologies and product candidates. We alsodntgmrontract with a thirgharty pharmaceutical product manufacturer and ppeki suppl
commercial requirements for our Impede™ PSE Tablets

Our Strategy

Our goal is to become a leading specialty pharntamducompany focused on addressing the growingesacproblem ¢
pharmaceuticaldrug abuse by developing a broad portfolio of pratsluvith abuse deterrent features and benefiteciigally, we intend to:

« Capitalize on our Experience and Expertise in tresdarch and Development of Pharmaceutical Produdts Abuse Deterre
Features and Benefil. Our strategy is to facilitate rapid product depenent and minimize risk by utilizing active phaceutice
ingredients with proven safety and efficacy prafileith known potential for abuse, and develop nesdpcts utilizing our proprieta
technologies using the F['s 505(b)(2) NDA and other regulatory pathways armt@sses

« Emerge as a Leader in Developing and Commercigif#noducts with Abuse Deterrent Features and Bendfble to Unique
Address the Growing Problem of Abuse of Preschipfirugs. We believe that Acuro® Tablets and our other opioid prod
candidates in development have demonstrated thatsfon® Technology allows products to provide the analgésicefit they wet
intended to deliver, while simultaneously havingttees that are intended to deter misuse and aisebelieve these benefits will
attractive to physicians, third party payers, anbligc advocacy groups sensitive to the problemrespription drug abus

» Optimize Shareholder Value and Temper Risk by kicgnour Product Candidates to Strategically Foaigeharmaceutici
Companies in the U.S. and Other Geographic Teriggr On October 30, 2007, we and King entered inKing Agreement |
develop and commercialize in the United States,a@arand Mexico opioid analgesic products utilizikgrsion® Technology. W
believe opportunities exist to enter into similgreements with other partners for these same ogiodducts outside the Kil
Territory, and in the United States and worldwide developing additional Aversion® Technology anthede™ Technology produ
candidates for other abusable drugs such as til@egsj stimulants, sedatives and decongestangdic@nsing our product candida
to strategically focused companies with expertise mfrastructure in commercialization of pharmaasls, we are able to lever:
our expertise, intellectual property rights and Bien® and Impedé&' Technologies without the need to invest in anddbadstly sale
and manufacturing infrastructure. We anticipat thur future revenue, if any, will be derived fronilestone and royalty payme
related to the commercialization of products utilig our Aversion®and Impede™ Technologies and from commercializatiboul
Impede™ PSE Tablet

« In-license or Acquire Alternative Technologies andd®rt Candidates to Expand our Portfolio of Abuséerent Technologies ai
Products. We intend to pursue the lizense or acquisition of product candidates amtirielogies that will allow us to expand
portfolio of products with abuse deterrent featward benefits. Such iicensing or acquisition transactions, if succelbgitompleted
of which no assurance can be given, may includelymbcandidates or technologies for pain relief] ather drugs susceptible
misuse and abus




Apply our Aversio® and Impedé” Technologies to Non-Opioid Drugs Susceptible tosébuWe intend to first develop a portfolio
opioid analgesic products, and thereafter we intemexpand to other pharmaceutical product categocontaining potential
abusable active ingredients such as tranquilligenand products such as Validin Xanax® , Klonopin® and Ativar® ), stimulant:
(brand products such as DexedrfheAdderall®, Ritalin® and Concert® ), sedatives (brand products such as NemBut&utisol®,
and Second? ) and decongestants (brand products such as S®jafgutec-D®, Allegra-D®, and Claritin-D®). These product
like opioid analgesics, may also be prone to misukabuse

Maintain our Efficient Internal Cost Structu. We maintain a streamlined and highly efficienstcstructure focused on: (i) selecti
formulation development, laboratory evaluation, ofasture, quality assurance, and stability testhgertain finished dosage fo
product candidates; (ii) development and prosenutib our patent applications; (iii) negotiation aedecution of license a
development agreements with strategically focuseldarmpaceutical companies and; (iv) utilizing thpdrty contrac
manufacturers/packagers to supply our commercglirements for our Impede™ PSE Tablet product.oBtsourcing the high cc
elements of our product development and commezeitiin process, we believe that we substantiallpimize required fixe
overhead and capital investment and thereby reducbusiness risk. We currently do not intendde a physician focused sales f
to commercialize products on our ov

Aversion® Technology Opioid Product Candidates in Bvelopment

Aversion® Technology opioid analgesic product cdatks which have demonstrated Proof of Conéept set forth in the tal

below.

Our Opioid Product Candidat

Stage of Developmel

Acurox® (oxycodone HCI) Tablets

Acurox®with Niacin (oxycodone HCl/niacin) Table

Acuracet® with Niacin (oxycodone HCl/niacin/acetaminophen)
Tablets

Vycaver® with Niacin (hydrocodone bitartrate/niacin/acetaoghen

Tablets

4t (undisclosed opioid analgesic/niacin) Tab

5 th (undisclosed opioid analgesic/niacin) Tab
6 th (undisclosed opioid analgesic/niacin) Tab
7 th (undisclosed opioid analgesic/niacin) Tab

8 th (undisclosed opioid analgesic/niacin) Tab

NDA submitted by King to FDA on 12/17/10; FDA actegthe NDA
for filing on February 10, 2011 and granted a Ryaeview
classification. Prescription Drug User Fee Acyé&rdate for
completion of FD/'s review is June 17, 201

NDA submitted to FDA on 12/30/08; Complete Respduesiter
(CRL) received 6/30/09; FDA Advisory Committee niegtheld
April 22, 2010; Resubmission of the NDA respondinghe CRL
expected after completion of the analysis of Sta8yADF-114 and
analyses of food and non-steroidal anti-inflammatbug (“NSAID”)
effects.

Investigational New Drug Application ("IND") fitewith FDA and
active beginning -1-08. IND subsequently transferred to Ki

Proof of Concept complete. King exercised itsapto license and
responsible for developme

Proof of Concept complete. King exercised its aptimlicense and i
responsible for developme

Proof of Concept comple
Proof of Concept comple
Proof of Concept comple

Proof of Concept comple

1 Proof of concept is attained upon demonstratioesfain product stability and bioavailability pareters defined in the King Agreeme
Refer to description of the King Agreement in tRisport. With three exceptions, King has eitherrlgs®l or has an option to license all of

product candidates listed above in the U.S., Caaadaviexico.




Aversion® Technology Overview

Aversion® Technology is a proprietary platform technology ypding abuse deterrent features and benefits tdyoaaministere:
pharmaceutical drug products containing potentia@husable active ingredients. Aversiorf@chnology may be utilized both with ¢
without niacin. Our focus has been to utilize dwersion® Technology with opioid analgesics administeredablet form. In addition, w
believe Aversion® Technology is a versatile teclggl which may be applicable to nopioid active ingredients susceptible to abuse
administered in tablet or capsule form, includingnguilizers, sedatives and stimulants (See “Awa®i Technology Nor®pioid Produc
Candidates in Development” below).

Aversion® Technology opioid analgesic product candidatesuttela uniqgue composition of active and inactive ripla@eutice
ingredients. The opioid active ingredients arendied to provide effective relief from pain whiletunique mixture of inactive ingredie
provides northerapeutic functionality. When dissolved in watenther solvents, the functional inactive ingesds quickly form a viscous g
which increases the difficulty of extracting thei@g active ingredient in a form and volume suitafdr injection. In addition, the combinat
of functional inactive ingredients is intended toduce nasal passage discomfort and disliking efféctthe tablets are crushed
snorted. Aversion@ echnology opioid product candidates may also melaiacin, an active ingredient in vitamins, chtdes reducers ar
nutritional supplements, in amounts determined Hyoube well tolerated when our product candidatesadministered at recommended d
but which are intended to induce temporary distikeffects as increasing numbers of tablets arelewedl in excess of the recommen
analgesic dose. When Aversiorf@chnology is utilized, it is intended that theuléisg product provides the same therapeutic b&nes th
non Aversion®Technology product, while simultaneously discounggthe most common methods of pharmaceutical ptodisuse an
abuse.

Intended to Deter I.V. Injection of Opioids Extraetl from Dissolved Table!

Prospective drug abusers may attempt to dissoluermly marketed opioidontaining tablets or capsules in water, alcoholptbe
common solvents, filter the dissolved solution, émeh inject the resulting fluid intravenously totain euphoric effects. In product candid
utilizing Aversion® Technology, extracting the active ingredient usijggerally available solvents, including water aroéiol, into a volum
and form suitable for intravenous (“.V.hjection, converts the tablet into a viscous gektare and traps the active ingredient in
gel. Additionally, it is not possible, without @dulty, to draw this viscous gel through a neeidb® a syringe for I.V. injection. We believe t
this gel forming feature will limit or impede théilty of prospective I.V. drug abusers from exting and injecting opioid active ingredie
from product candidates developed utilizing Aveng@oTechnology.

Intended to Deter Nasal Snortin

Prospective drug abusers may crush or grind cuyremérketed pharmaceutical opioddntaining tablets or capsules and snor
resulting powder. The abused active ingredienthénpowder is absorbed through the lining of theahpassages providing the abuser w
rapid onset of euphoric effects. Aversiof®chnology products are intended to discouragel masating by burning and irritating the ne
passages of a prospective drug abuser who crusitesnorts such products. We believe products whtidlze Aversion® Technology wil
discourage prospective nasal drug abusers frontisgarushed tablets.




Intended to Deter Swallowing Excess Quantities afblets

Niacin, an active ingredient in vitamins, cholestereducers and nutritional supplements, may aksonbluded in opioid analge:
product candidates utilizing Aversion® Technologile believe that should a person swallow excesstiigs of tablets utilizing Aversid®
Technology with niacin they will experience dishilgi symptoms, including intense flushing, itchingieating and/or chills, headache ar
general feeling of discomfort as a result of theréasing dose of niacin. It is expected that timéaeininduced disliking symptoms will bec
approximately 10 to 15 minutes after the exces® deswallowed and will dissipate approximatelyt@d590 minutes later. In addition,
believe it is generally recognized by physicians;ses, and other health care providers that niaata well established safety profile in |
term administration at doses far exceeding the autsom each product candidate utilizing Aversiom@chnology with niacin. We believe
undesirable niacin effects at escalating doses naitl prevent, but are expected to deter, swalloveirgess quantities of product candid
utilizing Aversion®Technology with niacin, although there can be rsueance in this regard. It has been known for y#weatsniacin side effe
may be mitigated if niacin is taken with food otthwvcertain doses of non-steroidal ainflammatory drugs. The addition of niacin to puott
utilizing Aversion® Technology will expose legitimate pain patientdaw, safe levels of niacin without expected impawctthe desired opia
analgesic effects but may cause a mild flushingpime of these pain patients.

U.S. Market Opportunity for Opioid Analgesic Products Utilizing Aversion® Technology

The misuse and abuse of prescription drug prodonageneral, and opioid analgesics in particulag &@gnificant societal problem tl
has been described as epidemic in nature by Josegalifano, Jr., Chairman and President, NatidDeahter for Addiction and Substai
Abuse at Columbia University, July 2005. Resuftem the2009 National Survey on Drug Use and Heattstimated that 35.0 million peoy
or more than 10% of the population, have used ppgmn opioid analgesics nomedically at some point in their lifetime. In atidi, it is
estimated that more than 75 million people in th&.Wuffer from pain, which is more than the numisiepeople with diabetes, heart dise
and cancer combined. For many pain sufferers, dmoialgesics provide their only pain relief. Aseault, opioid analgesics are among
largest prescription drug classes in the U.S. withr 260 million tablet and capsule prescriptioizpensed in 2010 of which approximately
million were for IR Opioid Products and 16 millievere for ER Opioid Products. However, physiciand ather health care providers at tit
are reluctant to prescribe opioid analgesics far & misuse, abuse, and diversion of legitimagsgniptions for illicit use.

We expect our Aversion®echnology opioid product candidates to competmarily in the IR Opioid Product segment of the
opioid analgesic market, a segment which has g@avean4% compounded annual rate over the last faa@sy On average, an IR Opioid Proi
prescription contains approximately 57 tablets apsules. According to tH209 National Survey on Drug Use and Heafifescription dru
abusers have supplanted abusers of all illicit siexrept marijuana. Of these abused prescriptiodugts, IR Opioid Products, which typice
provide rapid onset of analgesia and require dosivery 4 to 6 hours, comprise the vast majoritythié abuse compared with ER Opi
Products, which release their opioids gradually\egally over a 12 to 24 hour period. Due to fewentified competitors and the significar
larger market for dispensed prescriptions for IRd@pProducts compared to ER Opioid Products, weehaitially focused on developing
Opioid Products utilizing Aversion® Technology.

According to IMS Health, in 2010, sales in the IRi@d Product segment, comprised of 97% genericdyets, were $2
billion. Assuming the FDA approves differentiatetiel claims of the abuse deterrent features andflie of our product candidates, of wt
no assurance can be given, we anticipate that varsfon®Technology IR Opioid Products licensed to King vid premium priced compal
to generic products resulting in the growth of sdtethe IR Opioid Product market segment. All di¢fre pricing decisions relating to st
Aversion® opioid products will be made by King.

Despite considerable publicity regarding the abafs®xyContin® Tablets and other ER Opioid Products, U.S. goventratatistic
suggest that far more people have used IR OpiaduRts normedically than ER Opioid Products. These statistitimate that nearly 4 tin
as many people have misused the IR Opioid Prodvicisdin ® , Lortab® and Lorcet® (hydrocodone bitartrate/acetaminophen brand:s
generics) as have ever abused OxyCdhtinWe estimate 60-95% of the 35.0 million life tind& opioid abusers have namedically used tt
active ingredients in our IR Opioid product candéda As indicated in the following chart, the top fivbused opioid products are availe
only as IR Opioid Products.




Lifetime Non-Medical Use of Selected Pain Relieverége 12 or Older: 2009

Vicodin®, Lortab®, & Lorcet®

Damvocet®, Darvon® & Tylenol®@ wiCodeine
Percocet®, Percodan® & Tylox®
Hydrocodone

Codeine

OxyContin®

Marphine

Demerol®

Methadone

Ultram&

o

E 10 15 20 25

Numbers {in millions)

[ 'mmediate Release Only [I] Extended & Immediate Release

Source: SAMHSA, Office of Applied Studies, 2009tidaal Survey on Drug Use and Health.

We have completed, through an independent markeareh firm, three physician market research ssudith 282, 401 and 435 opioid
prescribing U.S. based physicians, respectivelysampling of key findings from these approximatg|¥00 physicians includes:

Physicians are keenly aware of opioid analgesic abu

The 282 physicians surveyed estimated on averageatiout one out of six prescriptions for oxycodand hydrocodone containi
products are abuse

94% of the 435 physicians surveyed experiencedast lone suspicious incident regarding opioid abusige past month, while nea
64% experienced four or more discretely differewidents regarding opioid abuse in the past m¢

Physicians are personally concerned with opioid @leus impact to their respective practices

Following the survey of 282 physicians, the researchers udad| ‘abuse [of opioid analgesics] is a particular probfer physician
because many are not fully sure who is abusingetbefids, and they view such abuse as a legadtttwetheir practice.” More thai
half [of the physicians surveyed] believe their gibian colleagues are more concerned about avogtitg review [of their opio
prescribing habits] than meeting [professional esdmn] pain guidelines [for their patier”.

After the survey of 435 physicians the researchensluded “the primary motive for prescribing theetsion®Technology product[:
is the concern physicians have about opioid abndetee threat it represents to their prac”




Physicians are favorably inclined toward prescrilgiropioids with abuse deterrent features and bergefit

« 94% of the 401 physicians surveyed indicated they tvould either prescribe one of the Aversioh@hnology products profiled
the market research questionnaire for one of theirfive patients receiving an opioid prescript@rthey are aware of a patient in tl
practice for whom Aversic® Technology products would be an appropriate cht

» 57% of the 435 physicians indicated that their @p@nalgesic prescribing would increase if they everore certain they were |
aiding abusers

« Following the survey of 401 physicians, the resears concludec‘these [Aversio® Technology oxycodone products] wo
disproportionately replace current immediate redeasycodone [and oxycodone/acetaminophen] pregamgt but would also dre
substantial volume from hydrocodone/acetaminophieduycts’

Overall, we believe the availability of opioid agesics with abuse deterrent features, includingdyets using our Aversic
Technology (with or without niacin), will impact ehselection of products used for relief of pairur @narket research survey of the
physicians indicated that of the prescriptionsliike be written for our product candidates thaliae oxycodone, 59% will be switched fr
immediate release products containing either oxgnedr hydrocodone, with the remaining 41% beingch@d from other currently marke:
opioid analgesic products such as codeine, progoxyp, morphine and tramadol. Our market researolegs of 401 physicians and ¢
physicians, respectively, suggest that the padiccbmbination of ingredients [i.e., with or witltcuiacin] does not appear to have a subst:
effect on the estimated brand market share poteasft@ur Acurox® product candidates.

A majority of pharmaceutical products in the U.& paid for by third party payers such as insunglhsrmacy benefit managers, self-
insured companies and the federal and state goestsnthrough Medicare, Medicaid and other entitienpeograms. We believe our proc
candidates must demonstrate a clinical benefihtopatient and/or an economic benefit to thirdypagyers and/or a benefit to health
providers to receive favored reimbursement stayuhé third party payers, of which no assurancelmagiven.

Independent estimates have been made assessipgtdially significant cost impact of prescriptiopioid abuse to insurers.
analysis of health and pharmacy insurance clainisdsn 1998 and 2002 for almost 2 million Americansducted by Analysis Group, i
and others indicated that enrollees with a diagnoiopioid abuse had average claims of approxim&te4,000 per year higher than an age-
gender matched noopioid abuse sample. A 2007 report by the Coalidgainst Insurance Fraud inflated this excess pesfpatient to mo
than $16,000 for 2007, and by applying the U.S.egoments estimated 4.4 million annual opioid abusers, kated that opioid abuse co
costs health insurers up to $72.5 billion a year.

Acurox ® Tablets Development Program

Acurox ® Tablets)

On December 17, 2010, King (our licensee undeKing Agreement) submitted a NDA for Acurox®xXycodone HCI) Tablets to t
FDA, including a request for priority review claésation On February 10, 2011, the FDA notified iof the FDAS acceptance for filing
the Acurox® Tablets NDA and the grant of a priprieéview classification The Prescription Drug User Fee Act noinding target date fi
completion of FDA's review is June 17, 2011.

The NDA for Acurox® Tablets includes results from numerous clinical &afmbratory studies assessing the efficacy andysaf

Acurox® Tablets and to demonstrate the abuse deterrenirésaand benefits, including the data and resui® fthe studies set forth in 1
table below.
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Studies in the Acur® Tablets (without niacin) 505(b)(2) NDA Submissi Summary of Result

AP-ADD-100 Bioequivalence to currently marketed oxycodone R€lerence Acurox® Tablets are bioequivalent to the Refere
Phase Listed Drug Listed Drug and to Acur® with Niacin Tablets
K234-1C- Dose Proportionality and the Effects of Food onBleavailability Acurox® Tablets are dose proportional between 5
1001 and 15 mg. Food resulted in a decrease in oxycodone
Phase | peak exposure ({;,4), an increase in total exposure

(AUC), and a delay to peak oxycodone,(])
compared with fasted conditior

K234-10- Evaluate effects of nasal snorting in subjecth wihistory of Refer to summary in this Report
1002 snorting and nasal drug abuse
Phase

PR-381 Laboratory test quantifying I.V. abuse deterremigerties (syring Refer to summary in this Rep
test)

PR-382 Laboratory tests quantifying 1.V. abuse deterrenpprties Refer to summary in this Rep
(extraction test

In addition to filing acceptance and assignmenda qfriority review classification, the FDAfiling communication letter to King al
includes preliminary comments about potential revissues relating to the intranasal abuse liabgitiydy included in the Acuro Tablet:
NDA and requests additional information relatingthds study and other issues. The preliminary agotdf potential review issues is
indicative of deficiencies that may be identifiearidg the FDAS review of the NDA. No assurance can be givehahg issues raised as |
of the FDA's review of the Acuro® Tablets NDA (including the potential review issupsthe FDA's filing communication letter) will k
addressed to the FDA's satisfaction or that theréx@ Tablets NDA will be approved by the FDA.

Study K234-10-1002 or Study 1002Study 1002 is entitled “Randomized, Double-Blind;tie-Controlled Study to Evaluate 1
Relative Abuse Potential and Safety of IntranasAtiyninistered Crushed AcurdkTablets in Non-Dependent Recreational Opioid Usefs”
total of 40 adult subjects with a history of ret¢i@aal drug abuse successfully completed screer@nmgloxone challenge (demonstrating
addiction to opioids), and a discrimination tesértinstrating the ability to discern drug liking ween snorting oxycodone HCI| 15mg .
placebo) and were randomized into the treatmerggbéthe study. 39 subjects were analyzed.

In the treatment phase, subjects intranasally adtered crushed tablets of: (a) 3 x 5mg Roxicodotat®ets, and (b) 2 x 7.5r
Acurox® Tablets. Subjects received all doses iarmlomized, crosever manner with 48 hours between doses. Subjatdd each dose fo
hours post-administration for drug liking/dislikiran a 100mm bipolar visual analogue scale (100mipolar VAS where 100="like a lot”
50="neutral, and 0 = “dislike a lot") as well agp6int measures of several nasal discomfort measuxe8 hours, subjects rated their Ove
Drug Liking and Take Drug Again measures (both 1@0hbipolar VAS). The maximum drug like/dislike efte(E ,,,,) was designated in t

study protocol as the primary endpoint.

For the Drug Liking E,,,, Roxicodone® Tablets had statistically significant difference<Qp0001) in mean like/dislike score (9:
compared to Acuro® Tablets (70.6). The mean Overall Drug Liking VABdaTake Drug Again VAS scores at 8 hours were closel
slightly below the neutral point of 50 with Acur@xTablets, compared to Roxicodofidablet values of 87.2 and 91.2, respectively (2000:
for both). The study VAS score results were sufgabby the assessments for nasal discomfort. ifeeeintial analyses showed signific
treatment effects (g 0.008) for all nasal assessment scales excefadal pain/ pressure. Except for nasal discomfoished and snort
Acurox® Tablets were generally well tolerated. The majooit adverse events were mild and consistent wighiitended nasal discomfort
effects of crushed Acurox® Tablets. There wers@gous adverse events reported.

Study PR-382 - Extraction Test —Study PR-382 is entitlesEvaluation of the Potential for Extraction of Oxgome HCI fron
Dissolved Acurox® Tablets for the Preparation oflamavenous Solution Suitable for Injection in Hams”. An independent pharmaceuti
laboratory utilizing a professionally trained phamceutical chemist attempted to extract the oxyceddit| from: (a) 8 x 5mg gene
oxycodone HCI tablets and (b) 8 x 5mg AcuroX@blets. The chemist was allowed to use any psaseprocedures and equipment to pre
a solution of 10mLs suitable for injection that could be drawn throw@ghypodermic needle into a syringe. The chewsst limited to 8 hou
of laboratory time per drug [i.e. 8 hours for (ada8 hours for (b)]. Endpoints in the study wdre percent of oxycodone HCI extracted f
each drug, a chemist rating of the ease/difficdilthe extraction procedure (l=easy to execute; @Owdex to execute) and the rela
availability of the equipment or materials usedrédily available; 10=difficult to obtain).
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The results from this study suggest that genericosone HCI tablets are easily (ease/difficultyngt=1) dissolved in water in le
than 10 minutes for potential abuse via IV injestiolhe drug concentration is sufficiently high 8a%y of 40mg extracted or a 72% yield)
such purposes. No Acurox® Tablet solutions meetiegprespecified criteria for a successful oxycodone etioa were obtained using eitl
water, organic solvents, or organic solvent mixéufrem 8 different extraction procedures.

Study PR-381 - Syringe Test- Study PR-381 is entitled “Demonstration of thalifbof Acurox® (oxycodone HCI, USP) Tablets
Resist Direct Conversion into an Injectable SohitioAn independent pharmaceutical laboratory attempaeprepare a solution suitable
intravenous injection from: (a) 2 x 5mg generic cogone HCI tablets and (b) 2 x 5mg AcuroX®@blets. The tablets were crushed
dissolved in increasing amounts of seven diffecembimon solvents safe for humans to inject untiéast 3mL5 of the resulting mixture cot
be drawn through a hypodermic needle into a syringeall solvents except one, the generic taldetdd be drawn into the syringe followi
the addition of just 4mL’s of solvent with the satle solvent requiring 20mL’s. Acurox® Tablets r@gd 14mL’s or more with six solver
and 6mL5 for the seventh solvent to prepare a solutiotalldg for injecting. With these volumes an abwgeuld theoretically need to perfo
between 4 and 10 injections of the drug solutidrsioed from crushed Acurox® Tablets using a 3miingje.

Acurox ® with Niacin Tablets

We submitted a NDA for Acurox with Niacin Tablets Becember 30, 2008 and received a Complete Respatter (CRL) from th
FDA on June 30, 2009. An FDA Advisory Committeeetiieg was held on April 22, 2010 to discuss Acufowith Niacin Tablets and tl
result of the studies evaluating the addition afcim for the purpose of reducing misuse of oxycedby excess oral consumption. The F
Advisory Committee voted at such meeting that tHigl/not have sufficient evidence to support therapal of the NDA for Acurox® with
Niacin Tablets for the treatment of moderate tcesepain, considering the deterrent effects ofiniaad the potential abuse deterrent fea
specific to Acurox® with Niacin Tablets. The FDA questioned: (a) tlergeived increased incidence of flushing when Ag@raovith Niacir
Tablets are taken by pain patients at recommendseésd (b) a lack of evidence supporting the effeatss of niacin to reduce peak drug lil
(E ...) when taken at abused (high) doses in the fastde, ind (c) the potential to mitigate the effeamtiess of niacin with food or NSAIDS.

max

To provide additional support for the abuse detgrbenefits of niacin in Acuro® with Niacin Tablets, we and King conductec
additional oral abuse liability study (AP-ADF-118t(dy 114)). Study 114 was not included in thejiodl NDA filing for Acurox ® with
Niacin Tablets. We and King are continuing to ee# the results of Study 114 and intend to sulanmmi¢sponse to the FI's June 20C
Complete Response Letter for Acurox® with NiacirblEds.

Study AP-ADF-114 or Study 114: Study 114 is entitled “A Randomized, Double-BliRlacebo- and Activ€&ontrolled Study t
Assess the Relative Abuse Potential of Acufdwith Niacin] Tablets (formerly known as AcuréTablets) in NonBependent Recreatiol
Opioid Users”. A total of 46 healthy adult subject with a histarfyrecreational opioid abuse successfully complétedscreening, a naloxc
challenge (demonstrating no addiction to opioidsjirug discrimination test (demonstrating the gbtlb discern drug liking between ingest
oxycodone HCI 40mg and placebo), and the treatmpkase. In the treatment phase fasted subjectly @@inistered, in randomized ¢
cross-over manner: (a) 8 x 5mg Roxicodone® tab({e)s8 x 10mg Roxicodone® tablets, (c) 8 x 5/30mzuox® with Niacin Tablets, (d) 8
10/30 Acurox® with Niacin Tablets, and (e) placefdde primary efficacy assessment was the rh@®-bipolar visual analog scale D
Liking/Disliking Assessment taken over 12 hourstpissing. Secondary assessments included a Take Ayyaig Assessment (TDAA) anc
Global Assessment of Overall Drug Liking (both 108ripolar VAS).

We and King continue to analyze the results fromd$t114. However, topline results indicate stat#dly significant difference
between Acuro® with Niacin Tablets (40/240 mg and 80/480 mg) amerespective equivalent Roxicoddhdoses (40/0 mg and 80/0 mg)
the peak liking (E,.4) as measured by Like/Dislike scores for 8 hourstadministration (p=0.003 and p<0.0001 , respectjvelhere wer
statistically significant and clinically meaningfdecreases between Acurxvith Niacin Tablets and the respective equivaleoxiBodone®
doses in the Take Drug Again Assessment (at &n@,8 hours; p<=0.001) and the Global Assessme@ivefall Drug Liking (assessed at
hours; p<=.0032). No serious adverse events weperted with the majority of adverse events aresisbent with the expected impedim
effects of niacin (skin burning sensation, skinmvaand flushing).
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Expectations for AcuroX® Tablets Product Labeling

The FDA has publicly stated that an explicit indica or claims of abuse deterrence will not be pted in product labeling unle
such indication or claims are supported by doubtallzontrolled clinical studies demonstrating @tual reduction in product abuse by pati
or drug abusers. We believe the cost, time andtipedity of designing and implementing clinicalidies adequate to support explicit labe
claims of abuse deterrence are prohibitive. TheARias stated that scientifically derived data anfbrimation describing the physi
characteristics of a product candidate and/or ¢selts of laboratory and clinical studies simulgtproduct abuse may be acceptable to in
in the product label. We intend to include in thieels of our Aversion@&echnology product candidates (whether with or aithniacin) both
physical description of the abuse deterrent chartics and information from our laboratory anéhickl studies designed to simulate
relative difficulty of abusing our product candidsat The extent to which such information will beluded in the FDA approved product le
will be the subject of our discussions with an agmrent by the FDA as part of the NDA review procéss each of our produ
candidates. Further, because FDA closely regufat@sotional materials, even if FDA initially apmes labeling that includes a descriptio
the abuse deterrent characteristics of the prodetFDA’s Division Drug Marketing, Advertising, and Commeatiion (i.e. DDMAC) wil
continue to review the acceptability of promotioteddeling claims and product advertising campafgn®ur marketed products, if any.

King Agreement

On October 30, 2007, we and King Pharmaceuticake&eh and Development, Inc. (“King”), a whotiyned subsidiary of Kir
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., entered into a License, Dewmeent and Commercialization Agreement (the “KiAgreement”)to develop an
commercialize in the United States, Canada and édéegihe "King Territory") certain opioid analgesgicoducts utilizing our proprieta
Aversion® Technology. The King Agreement initiaflyovided King with an exclusive license in the &iferritory for Acurox® (oxycodon
HCI) Tablets with and without niacin and Acura&(oxycodone HCl/acetaminophen) Tablets with and ewthniacin utilizing Aversio®
Technology. In addition, the King Agreement prasdKing with an option to license in the King Tery certain future opioid analge
products developed utilizing Aversion®chnology (with and without niacin). As of Decemi3d, 2010, King exercised its option to lice
two additional product candidates including an saoltised opioid analgesic tablet product and Vydav&r (hydrocodon
bitartrate/acetaminophen) Tablets with and withoiatcin, all of which utilize our Aversion®&echnology . We are responsible for u:
commercially reasonable efforts to develop Acurow@®@h Niacin Tablets through regulatory approval the FDA. The King Agreeme
provides that we or King may develop additionaloggianalgesic product candidates utilizing our Ai@m® Technology (with and witho
niacin) and, if King exercises its option to licersuch additional product candidates, they wilsblject to the milestone and royalty paym
and other terms of the King Agreement.

Pursuant to the King Agreement, we and King fornaefbint steering committee to oversee developmeadt @ommercializatic
strategies for Aversion® opioid analgesic proddiensed to King. We are responsible for all Acufowith Niacin Tablet developme
activities, the expenses for which we are reimhditse King, through FDA approval of a NDA. If the PDapproves the NDA for Acuro®
with Niacin Tablets, of which no assurance canierg King will be responsible for commercializisgch product in the U.S. With respec
all other products licensed by King pursuant toAlgeeement in all King Territories, including Acw® Tablets, King will be responsible, at
own expense, for development, regulatory, and comialeation activities. All products developedrpuant to the King Agreement will
manufactured by King or a third party contract nfaoturer under the direction of King. Subject te ting Agreement, King will have fin
decision making authority with respect to all depshent and commercialization activities for allelised products. We have reviewed
participation in the King-Acura joint steering cortige in light of the requirements of Emerging lssud’ask Force, Issue No. 00-2Revenu
Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables” (“EITF (") and concluded that this activity has no standalaiee therefore it does not meet
criteria to be considered a separate unit of adogin
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At December 31, 2010, we had received aggregatm@atg of $58.3 million from King, consisting of 80 million nonrefundabl
upfront cash payment, $17.3 million in reimbursedearch and development expenses relating to A@uwath Niacin Tablets and Acur&
Tablets, $6.0 million in fees relating to King'sezgise of its option to license an undisclosed idpanalgesic tablet product and Vycav@rt
with Niacin Tablets, and a $5.0 million milestorefrelating to our successful achievement of tivagy endpoints for our pivotal Phase
clinical study for Acurox® with Niacin Tablets. &King Agreement also provides for King’'s paymeants of a $3.0 million fee upon Kirgy’
exercise of its option for each future opioid aesig utilizing Aversion® Technology (“Future Prod{c In the event that King does |
exercise its option for a Future Product, King mag required to reimburse us for certain of our espe relating to such Fut
Product. Further, we may receive up to $23 millimadditional norrefundable milestone payments for each active d@oilgesic ingredie
licensed to King which achieves certain regulatoilestones in specific countries in the King Temt An opioid analgesic product candic
formulated with and without niacin is considerediagle product candidate for purposes of the optems and milestone payments pay
under the King Agreement. We can also receive atiome $50 million sales milestone payment upon trs¢ &ttainment of $750 million in r
sales of all of our licensed products across atigkTerritories. In addition, for sales occurrindldwing the one year anniversary of the 1
commercial sale of the first licensed product s#lohg will pay us a royalty at one of 6 rates ramgirom 5% to 25% based on the leve
combined annual net sales for all products liceriseds to King across all King Territories, withrethighest applicable royalty rate applie
such combined annual sales. King’s royalty paynodtigations expire on a product by product andntguby-country basis upon the later
(i) the expiration of the last valid patent claimvering such product in such country, or (ii) féte(15) years from the first commercial sal
such product in such country. No minimum annuatfare payable by either party under the King Agesd. Reference is made to Item
Note A of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Stegets included as a part of this Report, enti“Revenue Recognition, Deferred Prog
Fee Revenue, and Collaboration Revenigg”a description of the revenue recognition metieogpbloyed by the Company under the k
Agreement.

The King Agreement expires upon the expiration dhg&s royalty payment and other payment obligationseunthe King
Agreement. King may terminate the King Agreeménin(its entirety at any time by written notice tis, and (ii) with respect to any produc
any time upon the provision of not less than 12 tmgirprior written notice. We may terminate the KingrAgment with respect to a produc
the United States in the event such product iscootmercially launched by King within 120 days afteceipt of regulatory approval of st
product or in its entirety if King commences anyeifierence or opposition proceeding challengingulidity or enforceability of any of o
patent rights licensed to King under the King Agneat. Either party has the right to terminate Klireg Agreement on a product by prod
and country-byeountry basis if the other party is in materialdmie of its obligations under the King Agreemenatialy to such product a
such country, and to terminate the Agreement ieritdrety in the event the other party makes aigasgent for the benefit of creditors, file
petition in bankruptcy or otherwise seeks reliefl@mnapplicable bankruptcy laws, in each case stityeapplicable cure periods.

In the event of termination, no payments are dwepithose royalties and milestones that have adgpuor to termination under t
King Agreement and all licenses under the King A&gnent are terminated. For all Acura terminatiomd germination by King where we i
not in breach, the King Agreement provides forttia@sition of development and marketing of thered products from King to us, includ
the conveyance by King to us of the trademarksalnegulatory filings and approvals solely usedamnection with the commercializatior
such licensed products and, in certain cases, ifty' & supply of such licensed products for a traoisal period at King's cost plus a mark-up.

The foregoing description of the King Agreement teams forward-looking statements about Acuf®Xablets, and other prodi
candidates being developed pursuant to the Kingeédment. As with any pharmaceutical products umtirelopment or proposed to
developed, substantial risks and uncertaintieq @xidevelopment, regulatory review and commerzélon process. There can be no assu
that the King Agreement will not be terminated by terms prior to receipt of regulatory approval &my product developed pursuant to
King Agreement. Further, there can be no assur#meany product developed, in whole or in padrspant to the King Agreement v
receive regulatory approval or prove to be comnadlscsuccessful. Accordingly, investors in the Quany should recognize that there i
assurance that the Company will receive the mifesfmayments or royalty revenues described in ting lRigreement or even if such milestc
are achieved, that the related products will becassfully commercialized and that any royalty resen payable to us by King v
materialize. For further discussion of other rigksl uncertainties associated with the Company|tege 1A in this Report under the heac
“Risks Factors”.

On October 12, 2010, Pfizer, Inc. announced a teoffer to acquire all of the outstanding shareskofg Pharmaceuticals, Ir
Pfizer's tender offer acquisition of King Pharmatieals was completed on January 31, 2011, resultiniging becoming a majoritpwnec
subsidiary of Pfizer. Pfizer has advised thahfends to complete a shdarm merger with King on or about February 28, 20fdrsuant t
which King will become a whollyawned subsidiary of Pfizer. King will remain thespensible party under the King Agreement followsugt
merger transaction.
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Patents and Patent Applications

In April 2007, the United States Patent and Tradén@fice (“‘USPTQ”), issued to us a patent titledéthods and Compositions
Deterring Abuse of Opioid Containing Dosage Fornfsie “920 Patent”).The 54 allowed claims in the 920 Patent encompastait
pharmaceutical compositions intended to deter tbstrnommon methods of prescription opioid analgesaduct misuse and abuse. Tt
patented pharmaceutical compositions include thdure of functional inactive ingredients and spiectfpioid analgesics such as oxycoc
HCI and hydrocodone bitartrate among others.

In January 2009, the USPTO issued to us a pateat“@02 Patent”)with 18 allowed claims. The 402 Patent encompase€esir
combinations okappaandmuopioid receptor agonists and other ingredientaitéel to deter opioid analgesic product misuse andea

In March 2009, the USPTO issued to us a patent‘{thé Patent”with 20 allowed claims. The 726 Patent encompaasesler rang
of abuse deterrent compositions than our 920 Patent

Neither of the 920 Patent, 402 Patent or 726 Pageptires niacin to be a constituent of a prodacttie product to be within the sc«
of the patent claims.

In addition to our issued U.S. patents, we hawfinultiple U.S. patent applications and intermalgatent applications relating
compositions containing abusable active pharmacatigredients. Except for those rights confeirethe King Agreement, we have retai
all intellectual property rights to our Aversion@dhnology, Impede™ Technology, and related prodatiidates.

Reference is made to Item 1A, “Risk Factofsf a discussion, among other things, of pendingmaapplications owned by th
parties including claims that may encompass ouréc@ Tablets and other product candidates. If sucld tharty patent applications resul
valid and enforceable issued patents containinignslén their current form, we or our licensees dooke required to obtain a license to ¢
patents, should one be available, or alternatitellter our product candidates to avoid infrimgguch third-party patents.

Competition in the Opioid Product Market

We compete to varying degrees with numerous comegaim the pharmaceutical research, development,ufaeturing an
commercialization fields. Many of our competitorgve substantially greater financial and other resesiand are able to expend more fi
and effort than us in research and developmertef tompetitive technologies and products. Althoadarger company with greater resou
than us will not necessarily have a higher liketidaf receiving regulatory approval for a partieuoduct or technology as compared
smaller competitor, the company with a larger regeand development expenditure will be in a pogito support more development proj
simultaneously, thereby potentially improving tlilelihood of obtaining regulatory approval of a aoercially viable product or technolc
than its smaller rivals.

We believe potential competitors may be developpipid abuse deterrent technologies and produatsh otential competito
include, but may not be limited to, Pain Therapsutf South San Francisco, CA, (in collaboratiothwding Pharmaceuticals Inc.), Purt
Pharma of Stamford, CT, Atlantic Pharmaceuticalsittanta, GA, Egalet a/s, of Verlose, Denmark, K&marm of North Liberty, lowa ai
Collegium Pharmaceuticals, Inc., of Cumberland, Rhese companies appear to be focusing their dpwednt efforts on ER Opioid Produ
except for Atlantic Pharmaceuticals, while the migjoof our Aversion®Technology opioid analgesic product candidates uddgelopmen
are IR Opioid Products.

Aversion® Technology Non-Opioid Product Candidatesn Development

We are developing a benzodiazepine tranquilizedycb candidate utilizing our Aversion®echnology intended for the treatmen
anxiety disorders. Benzodiazepine products aresiflad as Schedule IV controlled substances byDE&. According toDrugs of Abuse
published by the DEA, tranquilizers are abused anners similar to opioid analgesics. T2@09 National Survey on Drug Use and He
estimates that 21.7 million people have abusedcpm®n tranquilizers (including benzodiazepin@s)some point in their lifetime and !
million have abused tranquilizers in the past year.
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We have had a face-to-face meeting with the FDBIivision of Psychiatry Products (DPP) regarding proposed strategy |
developing a benzodiazepine containing product icabel with abuse deterrent features and benefitshat meeting, DPP recommended
benzodiazepine containing product candidate anggsed investigational new drug application stratbgyreviewed by the Division
Anesthesia and Analgesia Products (DAAP). BPRew was that although our proposed product dosita benzodiazepine indicated fc
psychiatric condition, that it would be more appiafe for DAAP to review our proposed developmerategy due to their broader experie
with products intended to reduce abuse. We intenschedule a meeting with the DAAP to discuss lmemzodiazepine containing prod
candidate.

Our benzodiazepine product candidate is intenddzttencompassed by numerous pending U.S. patelitatjgms. There can be
assurances that such pending patent applicatidheesuilt in issued patent claims encompassingoenzodiazepine product candidate.

Impede™ Technology Product Candidates in Developmén

We have developed Impede™ PSE, a pseudoephedriidmnjoride (“PSE")tablet product candidate utilizing our Imped
Technology. Impede™ Technology utilizes a projamgtmixture of functional inactive ingredients inteed to limit or impede extraction
PSE from the tablets for use as a starting materigtoducing the illicit drug methamphetamine.eTimique mixture of inactive ingredient:
the Impede™ PSE product candidate are generalbgrézed as safe.

Most PSE containing products are classified byRbBé for sale Over-The-Counter (without a doctoprescription) and most prod
formulations do not require the approval of a Nemd>Application by the FDA to initiate commerciakttibution and marketing. In 20
regulations relating to ovehe counter sale of PSE products were amended thwithenactment of the Federal Combat Methamphet:
Epidemic Act (CMEA). The CMEA was enacted in resg® to an alarming increase in and widespread csioveof PSE containing produ
into methamphetamine. Among other things, the CME4uires retail stores to maintain their inventofyPSE containing products ir
secured location and restricts the amount of P@EEymts a store can sell to an individual custoniemplementation of the CMEA initial
reduced the number of illegal methamphetamine kbdes as the then most commonly used processcdoversion of PSE
methamphetamine required substantial quantitieBS#. However, a newer, more efficient processcémverting PSE to methamphetan
requires less PSE. Possibly as a result of the refficient process, the DEA reported 2009 clandesnethamphetamine laboratory seiz
increased 62% over the low reported in 2007. Irep¢dTechnology is designed to deter a wide rangpro€esses of methamphetan
production including both the older and newer psses. In response to the ongoing methamphetamaidem, several local jurisdictio
(state, counties and/or local municipalities) hamacted or propose to enact legislation to recuiphysician$ prescription to obtain a P
containing product.

We sponsored an independent laboratory test ofropede™ PSE tablets compared to Sudafed@&nd PSE tablets in an attemg
extract PSE from 100 x 30 mg tablets for converstomethamphetamine using what we believe to behitee most commonly used extrac
processes. The results of these tests demonstifzedvhile PSE was readily extracted from Sudafedf@lets, Impede™ PSE effectiv
impeded the extraction of the PSE for conversioo inethamphetamine. The results of these testsusnenarized in the table below:

% Pseudoephedrine HCI extrac
from 100 x 30mg tablet

Product Tested Method 1 Method 2 Method 3
Impede™ PSE Table 0% 0% ~0%
Sudafe® Tablets 96% 89% 79%

*Sudafed® is a registered trademark of JohnsonJahdson Corporation

We have a completed an 18 subject crossover phakimatic study to evaluate the plasma concentratiofi (a) 2 x 30mg Impede
PSE Tablets, (b) 2 x 30mg Sudafed® Tablets, an@ ¢cBOmg generic PSE tablets (also known as a¢'dicand”). The study demonstrat
that Impede™ PSE is bioequivalent to Sudafed® ambeudoephedrine HCI tablets manufactured by ¢negeé Company.

Tablet products containing 60 mg or less of PSEcaresidered by the FDA to be safe and effectiveufe by the general put
without a prescription. We believe our 30 mg P8Bldt product developed utilizing Impede™ Technglogeets or will meet the FDA’
requirements for “Over-the-Counter Human Drugs Whace Generally Recognized as Safe and EffectideNot Misbranded’as set forth i
the Code of Federal Regulations at 21 CFR 330.thwhill allow us to commercialize our Impede™ PS&blets without submitting a NDA
the FDA.
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We are currently negotiating with our preferred tcact manufacturer for the scale up, manufacturt packaging of commerc
guantities of our Impede™ PSE Tablets. It is oyreetation to market, sale and distribute our Ingd¥dPSE Tablets directly to national .
regional drug store chains.

Government Regulation

All pharmaceutical firms, including us, are subjecextensive regulation by the federal governmerincipally by the FDA under tl
Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (the “FD&C Actind, to a lesser extent, by state and local goventsn Before our prescripti
products may be marketed in the U.S., they mustpipeoved by the FDA for commercial distributionddiionally, we are subject to extens
regulation by the DEA under the Controlled Subsésn&ct for research, development and manufactwir@pntrolled substances. We are
subject to regulation under federal, state and lldaws, including requirements regarding occupalosafety, laboratory practic
environmental protection and hazardous substanngatpand may be subject to other present andréutocal, state, federal and fore
regulations, including possible future regulatimighe pharmaceutical industry. We cannot predietéxtent to which we may be affectec
legislative and other regulatory developments coring our products and the healthcare industryeinegal.

However, because of recent developments in thel&gie and regulatory framework within which drpgpducts are reviewed &
approved by FDA, approval of drug products by FDAaymbe subject to continuing obligations intendedagsure safe use of
products. Specifically, effective March 25, 2008der Title IX of Subtitle A of the Food and Drugiministration Amendments Act of 20
(“FDAAA™), FDA may require a Risk Evaluation and Njation Strategy (“‘REMS”Jo manage known or potential serious risks asseatiadtl
drugs or biological products. If FDA finds that £ RS is necessary to ensure that the benefits opmaucts outweigh the risks associi
with the products, FDA will require a REMS and, sequently, that we take additional measures torersafe use of the product. Compon
of a REMS may include, but are not limited to a Matlon Guide, a marketing and sales communicgtian, elements to assure safe pro
use, a REMS implementation system, and a timefablassessment of the effectiveness of the REMS.

The FD&C Act, the Controlled Substances Act andeptfederal statutes and regulations govern théntgsinanufacture, quali
control, export and import, labeling, storage, rdckeeping, approval, pricing, advertising, prorantisale and distribution of pharmaceu
products. Noncompliance with applicable requireradrdth before and after approval, can subject wsthord party manufacturers and ot
collaborative partners to administrative and jualisianctions, such as, among other things, wareitgrs, fines and other monetary payme
recall or seizure of products, criminal proceedjrgysspension or withdrawal of regulatory approvaierruption or cessation of clinical trie
total or partial suspension of production or digition, injunctions, limitations on or the limitati of claims we can make for our products,
refusal of the government to enter into supply @xts for distribution directly by governmental agees, or delay in approving or refusa
approve new drug applications. The FDA also hasthkority to revoke or withhold approvals of nemg applications.

The Federal Controlled Substances Act imposes wariegistration, recorlleeping and reporting requirements, procuremen
manufacturing quotas, labeling and packaging reguénts, security controls and a restriction ongition refills on certain pharmaceuti
products. Establishments may not handle contralled) substances until they have been inspectedegistered by the DEA and must
equipped to meet DEA security requirements. A ppiaicfactor in determining the particular requirert if any, applicable to a product is
actual or potential abuse profile. A pharmaceutraduct may be “scheduled” as a C-I, C-ll, C-GHV or C-V controlled substance, with IC-
substances considered to present the highest frisidhstance abuse and\Csubstances the lowest. Because of the potemtiadfuse, opio
analgesic active pharmaceutical ingredients andhfed drug products, including all of our Aversiofi®chnology opioid product candida
are regulated, or scheduled, under the Controlldgstances Act. Because they contain oxycodone W€believe that Acurof Tablets an
Acurox® with Niacin Tablets will be DEA C-II prodis
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FDA approval is required before any "new drug," b@nmarketed. A "new drug" is one not generallygetized as safe and effect
for its intended use. Our products are new drugehSapproval must be based on adequate and weliotled laboratory and clinic
investigations. In addition to providing requireafety and effectiveness data for FDA approval,ugdnanufacturer's practices and procec
must comply with current Good Manufacturing Praesid“cGMPs”),which apply to the manufacturing, receiving, hotgiand shipping
Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to expgme, money and effort in all applicable areastietato quality assurance and regula
compliance, including production and quality cohtmcomply with cGMPs. Failure to so comply rigkslays in approval of drug products
possible FDA enforcement actions, such as an itijpmcagainst shipment of products, the seizure afi-complying products, crimin
prosecution and/or any of the other possible canseces described above. We are subject to peiiwgpection by the FDA and DEA.

The FDA Drug Approval Process

The process of drug development is complex andthgngrhe activities undertaken before a new phasutical product may |
marketed in the U.S. generally include, but arelinoted to, preclinical studies; submission to #i2A of an IND, which must become act
before human clinical trials commence; adequatewagittcontrolled human clinical trials to establish tlefesy and efficacy of the produ
submission to the FDA of an NDA; acceptance fandjlof the NDA by FDA,; satisfactory completion af &DA preapproval inspection of tl
clinical trial sites and manufacturing facility facilities at which the both the active ingredieatsl finished drug product are produced to a
compliance with cGMPs; and FDA review and apprafdhe NDA prior to any commercial sale and disitibn of the product in the U.S.

Preclinical studies include laboratory evaluatidnpmduct chemistry and formulation, and in someesa animal studies and ot
studies to preliminarily assess the potential yafetd efficacy of the product candidate. The rasolt preclinical studies together w
manufacturing information, and analytical data #wen submitted to the FDA as a part of an IND. IND must become effective prior to 1
commencement of human clinical trials. The IND bmes effective 30 days following its receipt by fRBA unless the FDA objects to,
otherwise raises concerns or questions and imposéisical hold. In the event that FDA objectstih@ IND and imposes a clinical hold,
IND sponsor must address any outstanding FDA coscer questions to the satisfaction of the FDA befdinical trials can proceed. Th
can be no assurance that submission of an INDresiult in FDA authorization to commence clinicabls. Once an IND is in effect, t
protocol for each clinical trial to be conductedlanthe IND must be submitted to the FDA, which maynay not allow the trial to proceed.

Human clinical trials are typically conducted imel phases that often overlap:

Phase I: This phase is typically the first involving humairficipants, and involves the smallest number oo participan
(typically, 2050). The investigational drug is initially introcled into healthy human subjects or patients anddesr safety, dosa
tolerance, absorption, metabolism, distribution ardretion. In addition, it is sometimes possildegain a preliminary indication
efficacy.

Phase 1l: Once the preliminary safety and tolerability of theig in humans is confirmed during phase |, phbse/olves studies in
somewhat larger group of study subjects. Unlikasghl studies, which typically involve healthy sdi§, participants in phase
studies maybe affected by the disease or conditiowhich the product candidate is being developRHase Il studies are intende
identify possible adverse effects and safety riskgvaluate the efficacy of the product for sged#irgeted diseases, and to deter
appropriate dosage and tolerance.

Phase llI: Phase Il trials typically involve a large numbeafspatients affected by the disease or conditianwibich the produ
candidate is being developed. Phase Il clinidaldrare undertaken to evaluate clinical efficangl aafety under conditions resemb
those for which the product will be used in actciadical practice after FDA approval of the NDAhdse Il trials are typically ti
most costly and time-consuming of the clinical msas

Phase IV: Phase IV trials may be required by FDA after thprapal of the NDA for the product, as a conditidrntlee approval,
may be undertaken voluntarily by the sponsor ofttied. The purpose of phase IV trials is to coog to evaluate the safety
efficacy of the drug on a longrm basis and in a much larger and more diverserigopulation than was included in the prior g
of clinical investigation.
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After clinical trials have been completed, the smnmust submit an NDA to the FDA including theulées of the preclinical ar
clinical testing, together with, among other thindstailed information on the chemistry, manufaaigy quality controls, and proposed proc
labeling. There are two types of NDAs; a 505(b)}hd a 505(b)(2). A 505(b)(1) NDA is also known a%wl NDA" and is described t
section 505(b)(1) of the FD&C Act as an applicatmmtaining full reports of investigations of sgfeind effectiveness, in addition to ot
information. The data in a full NDA is either ownby the applicant or are data for which the applideas obtained a right of reference. A 505
(b)(2) application is one described under sectiof(5)(2) of the FD&C Act as an application for wihismformation, or one or more of 1
investigations relied upon by the applicant forrappl "were not conducted by or for the applicamd éor which the applicant has not obtai
a right of reference or use from the person byoorvihom the investigations were conducted". Thisviion permits the FDA to rely f
approval of an NDA on data not developed by thdiegpt, such as published literature or the FDAdslihg of safety and effectiveness ¢
previously approved drug. 505(b)(2) applications submitted under section 505(b)(1) of the FD&C #Awtl are therefore subject to the s
statutory provisions that govern 505(b)(1) applarad that require among other things, "full repbdksafety and effectiveness. Our regula
submission for Acurox® with Niacin Tablets and Kimgubmission for Acuro® Tablets were both accepted for filing by FDA as ()&)
NDA's.

Each NDA requires a user fee, pursuant to the remquénts of the Prescription Drug User Fee Act (“FHAU), as amended. Accordi
to FDA'’s fee schedule, effective on October 1, 2010,Her2011 fiscal year, the user fee for an applicafiee requiring clinical data (such
an NDA) is $1,542,000. The FDA adjusts PDUFA uges on an annual basis. PDUFA also imposes anmadlct and facility fees. T
annual product fee for prescription drugs and lgme for the 2011 fiscal year is $86,520 and theuah facility fee for facilities used
manufacture prescription drugs and biologics far #9011 fiscal year is $497,200. A written requesst be submitted for a waiver of
application fee for the first human drug applicatitnat is filed by a small business, but no waivlersproduct or establishment fees
available. Where we are subject to these fees,dhegignificant expenditures that may be incumnetthe future and must be paid at the tim
submission of each application to FDA. The Kingrégment provides that King will reimburse us foe thDA application fee for Acur@
with Niacin Tablets and pay user fees for Acuroxith Niacin Tablets and all other products licenbgdhe Company to King pursuant to
King Agreement.

After an NDA is submitted by an applicant, andtifsi accepted for filing by the FDA, the FDA wilien review the NDA and, if a
when it determines that the data submitted arewsatedo show that the product is safe and effedtvéts intended use, the FDA will apprc
the product for commercial distribution in the UT$iere can be no assurance that any of our pradunctidates will receive FDA approval
that even if approved, they will be approved widbdling that includes descriptions of its abusesrdent features. Moreover, even if
product candidates are approved with labeling theludes descriptions of the abuse deterrent featwf our products, advertising
promotion for the products will be limited to thgesific claims and descriptions in the FDA appropeaduct labeling.

The FDA requires drug manufacturers to establighranintain quality control procedures for manufaaty, processing and holdi
drugs and investigational products, and productstrha manufactured in accordance with defined fipations. Before approving an NC
the FDA usually will inspect the facility(ies) atweh the active pharmaceutical ingredients andgfied drug product is manufactured, and
not approve the product unless it finds that cGMihgliance at those facility(ies) are satisfactolfythe FDA determines the NDA is r
acceptable, the FDA may outline the deficiencieshim NDA and often will request additional inforneet, thus delaying the approval c
product. Notwithstanding the submission of anyuested additional testing or information, the FDf\nuately may decide that the applicat
does not satisfy the criteria for approval. Afeemproduct is approved, changes to the approveduptoduch as adding new indicatic
manufacturing changes, or changes in or additioribe approved labeling for the product, may regsitbmission of a new NDA or, in sa
instances, an NDA amendment, for further FDA revidRostapproval marketing of products in larger or différg@atient populations th
those that were studied during development cantieaew findings about the safety or efficacy & firoducts. This information can lead
product sponsos requesting approval for and/or the FDA requichgnges in the labeling of the product or evenattliedrawal of the produ
from the market.

The Best Pharmaceuticals for Children Act, or BP@&came law in 2002 and was subsequently reaudtbdnd amended
FDAAA. The reauthorization of BPCA provides an didehal six months of patent protection to NDA apphts that conduct accepts
pediatric studies of new and currentharketed drug products for which pediatric inforimatwould be beneficial, as identified by FDA i
Pediatric Written Request. The Pediatric Researmghit{z Act (“PREA”"), became law in 2003, and was also subsequently hvedzed an
amended by FDAAA. The reauthorization of PREA iieggithat most applications for drugs and biologitdude a pediatric assessn
(unless waived or deferred) to ensure the drugkbéologics' safety and effectiveness in childr&uch pediatric assessment must contain
gathered using appropriate formulations for each giup for which the assessment is required, dhatadequate to assess the safet
effectiveness of the drug or the biological prodiectthe claimed indications in all relevant ped@subpopulations, and to support dosing
administration for each pediatric subpopulationvidrich the drug or the biological product is safel @ffective. The pediatric assessment:
only be deferred provided there is a timeline foe tompletion of such studies. FDA may waive (phytor fully) the pediatric assessm
requirement for several reasons, including if thpli@ant can demonstrate that reasonable attemgsotiuce a pediatric formulation neces
for that age group have failed. We and King retpeedeferral of the pediatric assessment in the Nild#gs for Acurox®with Niacin Tablet
and Acurox® Tablets.
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The terms of approval of any NDA for our produchdaates, including the indication and product ladge (and, consequen
advertising and promotion) may be more restricthen what is sought in the NDA or what is desirgdub. Additionally, FDA may conditic
approval of abuse deterrence statements and cfaimfscurox® with Niacin and Acurox@ ablets on phase IV clinical studies for contir
assessment of such statements or claims. Thadestd FDA approval process for our product cartd&laequires substantial time, effort,
financial resources, and we cannot be sure thagppyoval will be granted on a timely basis, iaHt

Further, as a condition of approval of any NDA, FD#ay require a REMS to ensure the safe use andtonimig of any of oL
products. If required, a REMS may include, but maybe limited to, use of an FD&pproved Medication Guide and/or Patient Packagert
a communication plan for patients or healthcarevigigrs concerning the drug, a description of elemém assure safe use of the product, ¢
timetable for FDA'’s assessment of the effectiveradégshe REMS.

In addition, we, our suppliers and our licensees rquired to comply with extensive FDA requirensehbth before and af
approval. For example, we or our licensees areired| to report certain adverse reactions and ptimtu problems, if any, to the FDA, anc
comply with certain requirements concerning adsar and promotion for our products, which, as uised above, may significantly affect
extent to which we can include statements or claieisrencing our abuse deterrent technology in ybdéabeling and advertising. Al
quality control and manufacturing procedures mostioue to conform to cGMP after approval to avibid product being rendered misbrar
and/or adulterated under the FD&C Act as a reduthanufacturing problems. In addition, discovefyany material safety issues may resu
changes to product labeling or restrictions onapct manufacturer, potentially including removittee product from the market.

Whether or not FDA NDA approval in the U.S. hasrbeétained, approvals from comparable governmeegallatory authorities
foreign countries must be obtained prior to the w@ncement of commercial activities in those coestriThe approval procedure varie
complexity from country to country, and the timgué&ed may be longer or shorter than that requioedDA approval.

Facilities for Research, Development, and Manufacting

We conduct research, development, laboratory,cdirdupplies manufacturing and related activitegofoduct candidates utilizing ¢
technologies at our Culver, Indiana facility. T2 000 square foot facility is registered with DEA to perform research, development
manufacture of certain DEA Scheduled active phaeutical ingredients and finished dosage form présluéVe obtain quotas for supply
DEA-scheduled active pharmaceutical ingredients froemDEA and develop finished dosage forms in ourv@ufacility. We manufactu
clinical trial supplies of drug products in our @it facility in volumes sufficient to meet FDA stards for NDAs. King is responsible
commercial manufacture of the product candidatenBed under the King Agreement. We expect thatdiproduct candidates developed
licensed by us will be commercially manufacturedoloy licensees or other qualified third party caotrmanufacturers.

We expect to rely on contract manufacturers to rfeture, package and supply our commercial quastitif our Impede™ P¢
Tablet product once commercialized. Initially, Wweeend to source our commercial requirements ofddgi* PSE Tablets from a sin
manufacturer and do not currently have a seconctedor this product. Although we believe thatrthare alternate sources of supply tha
satisfy our commercial requirements, replacing@tra@t manufacturer may result in delays and aatukii costs.
Segment Reporting

We operate in one business segment; the reseaeblopment and manufacture of innovative abusermete orally administere
pharmaceutical product candidates.
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Environmental Compliance

We are subject to regulation under federal, statklacal environmental laws and believe we are atemal compliance with su
laws. We incur the usual waste disposal cost aatativith a pharmaceutical research, developmehtremufacturing operation.

Raw Materials

To purchase certain active ingredients requiredofar development and manufacture of product camelédatilizing our Aversio®
Technology, we are required to file for and obtaupply quotas from the DEA. No assurance can bengthat we will be successful
obtaining adequate DEA quotas in a timely mann&enEassuming adequate and timely DEA quotas, tbenebe no assurances that
approved manufacturers of raw materials for oudpod candidates will supply us with our requirensefatr the active or inactive ingredie
required for the development and manufacture ofppoduct candidates.

Subsidiaries

Our Culver, Indiana research, development, and faaturing operations are conducted by Acura Phagutézal Technologies, In
an Indiana corporation and our wholly-owned sulasidi

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our future operating results may vary substantifithyn anticipated results due to a number of fagtarany of which are beyond «
control. The following discussion highlights sormfetteese factors and the possible impact of theswifs on future results of operations. If
of the following factors actually occur, our busisefinancial condition or results of operationsildobe materially harmed. In that case,
value of our common stock could decline substdgtial

Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry

We have a history of operating losses and may radtiave profitability sufficient to generate a paisié return on shareholders’
investment.

We had a net loss of $12.7 million for the yearezh®ecember 31, 2010, a net loss of $15.8 mill@rttie year ended December
2009 and net income of $14.5 million for the yeraded December 31, 2008. Our future profitabiliiyf depend on several factors, including:

« our receipt of milestone payments and royaltieatirg to products developed and commercialized unde license agreeme
with King (as more fully described under the cap*ltem 1. Busines— King Agreemer”); and

« the receipt of FDA approval and the successful censialization by King and other future licensedsa(iy) of products utilizin
our Aversioi® and Impede™ Technologies without infringing thegpa$ and other intellectual property rights ofdtparties

We cannot assure you that we will ever have a modpproved for commercialization by the FDA orttihwe or our licensees w
bring any product to market.

We recognized revenues of $3.3 and $3.8 milliorthe years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, resggctfrom payment
received under the King Agreement. However, weehast yet generated any revenues from Averside@hnology product sales. Even if
succeed in commercializing one or more of our Aee® Technology product candidates, we expect to coatimsing cash reserves for
foreseeable future. Our expenses may increasesifoteseeable future as a result of continued relsead development of additional proc
candidates, maintaining and expanding the scopeuofintellectual property, commercializing our Indeé™ PSE product, and hiring
additional research and development staff.
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We will need to generate revenues from direct pcodales or indirectly from royalties on sales ¢biave and maintain profitability.
we cannot successfully develop, obtain regulatgrgraval for and commercialize our product candigldieensed to King under the Ki
Agreement or other product candidates under sinlidanse agreements anticipated to be negotiatdde&acuted with other pharmaceut
companies, of which no assurance can be given, ilWaat be able to generate such royalty revenueschieve future profitability. Our failu
to achieve or maintain profitability would have aterial adverse impact on the market price of amnmon stock.

We must rely on current cash reserves, technoldggnsing fees and third party financing to fund opaions.

Pending the receipt of milestone payments and tiegalif any, under the King\greement or under similar license agreen
anticipated to be negotiated and executed withrgtharmaceutical companies, of which no assuraanébe given, we must rely on our cur
cash reserves, revenues from sales of our ImpedsE“pPoduct, if any, and thirparty financing to fund operations and product dtgwmen
activities. No assurance can be given that curtesh reserves or revenues from Impede™ PSE pradiles will be sufficient to fund t
continued operations and development of our prodactidates until such time as we generate additimvenue from the King Agreemen
similar license agreements anticipated to be naggtiand executed with the other pharmaceuticapeoies. Moreover, no assurance ca
given that we will be successful in raising additibfinancing or, if funding is obtained, that sudnding will be sufficient to fund operatic
until product candidates utilizing our Aversion®dampede™ Technologies may be commercialized.

Our product candidates are unproven and may notadmproved by the FDA.

We are committing a majority of our resources te tlevelopment of Acurof Tablets and other product candidates utilizing
Aversion® and Impede™ Technologies. There candassurance that the FDA will ultimately approveufax ® Tablets or any other prodi
candidate utilizing Aversion®rechnology for commercial distribution. Furtherett can be no assurance that other product cage
developed using Aversion®echnology or Impede™ Technology will achieve thryéted end points in the required clinical studieperforn
as intended in other pinical and clinical studies or lead to a NDA sugsion or filing acceptance. Our failure to sucbass develop an
achieve final FDA approval of a product candidat#izing Aversion® Technology will have a material adverse effect am Hnancia
condition.

Even if the FDA Approves Acuro® Tablets for commercial distribution, if Acuro® Tablets are not approved with labeling describing
its abuse deterrent features, we will be unableeater to the abuse deterrent characteristics of Acx ®to promote the product.

Our strategy for Acuro® Tablets depends upon our ability to distinguish r&® Tablets from other immediate release oxycoi
HCI containing products based primarily on abusesrent features. As with all of our product catades utilizing Aversion®echnology
even if Acurox® Tablets are approved by the FDA, our failure toied approval of product labeling that sufficiendifferentiates Acuro®
Tablets from other immediate release oxycodone ¢t@taining tablets may adversely affect our busireesd results of operations. The F
has publicly stated that explicit indications aaiois of abuse deterrence will not be permittedssiich indications or claims are supporte
double blind controlled clinical studies demonstgtan actual reduction in product abuse by patientdrug abusers. Because the cost,
and practicality of designing and implementing iclah studies adequate to support explicit claimatfise deterrence are prohibitive, we ar:
pursuing and have not conducted the clinical tm&sessary to include an explicit product labehelaf abuse deterrence. Instead, we intel
rely on certain clinical and laboratory studiestpport the inclusion of information about the abdsterrent features of Acur@xTablets t
support promotion by our licensee(s) of the prodWe intend to include in the product labels of puoduct candidates both a phys
description of the abuse deterrent features arafrivdtion from laboratory and clinical studies desid to simulate the relative difficulty
abusing our product candidates. However, the extenthich such information will be included in tR®A approved product label will be
subject of our discussions with, and agreementhig/FDA as part of the NDA review process for eathur product candidates. The outce
of those discussions with the FDA will determineetiter we will be able to market our product cantdidawvith labeling that sufficient
differentiates them from other products that hasmpgarable therapeutic profiles. If the FDA does ayoprove the Acuro® Tablet labelin
with such information, our licensee will not be alib promote Acuro® Tablets based on its abuse deterrent features,noiape able 1
differentiate Acurox® Tablets from other oxycodone HCI containing immeéglieelease products, and may not be able to crangemiun
above the price of such other products which couwdtierially adversely affect our business and resaflbperations.

Because FDA closely regulates promotional mategal$ other promotional activities, even if FDA ialty approves product labeli

that includes a description of the abuse detehatacteristics of our product, FDA may object tw or our licenses marketing claims a
product advertising campaigns.
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Relying on third party contract research organizatis ("CROs") may result in delays in our prelinical, clinical or laboratory testing. |
pre<clinical, clinical or laboratory testing for our poduct candidates are unsuccessful or delayed, wielvei unable to meet our anticipat:
development and commercialization timelines.

To obtain FDA approval to commercially sell andtdimite in the U.S. any of our prescription prodaahdidates, we or our licens
must submit to the FDA an NDA demonstrating, amotiger things, that the product candidate is sateedfective for its intended use. T
demonstration requires significant testing. As wendt possess the resources or employ all the peesmecessary to conduct such testing
rely on CROs for the majority of this testing widhir product candidates. As a result, we have lesta over our development program the
we performed the testing entirely on our own. Thpatties may not perform their responsibilitiesaur anticipated schedule. Delays in
development programs could significantly increaseproduct development costs and delay product cemialization.

The commencement of clinical trials with our prodcendidates may be delayed for several reasotlsding but not limited to dela
in demonstrating sufficient preinical safety required to obtain regulatory apmioto commence a clinical trial, reaching agreetsieor
acceptable terms with prospective licensees, matwfag and quality assurance release of a suffidepply of a product candidate for us
our clinical trials and/or obtaining institutionaview board approval to conduct a clinical trinhgrospective clinical site. Once a clinicall
has begun, it may be delayed, suspended or temitmt us or regulatory authorities due to sevexetiors, including ongoing discussions \
regulatory authorities regarding the scope or desif our clinical trials, failure to conduct clit trials in accordance with regulat
requirements, lower than anticipated recruitmentedention rate of patients in clinical trials, piestion of the clinical trial operations or t
sites by regulatory authorities, the impositioractlinical hold by FDA, lack of adequate fundingcntinue clinical trials, and/or negative
unanticipated results of clinical trials.

Clinical trials required by the FDA for commercadproval may not demonstrate safety or efficacgwfproduct candidates. Succ
in pre<linical testing and early clinical trials does rassure that later clinical trials will be successResults of later clinical trials may 1
replicate the results of prior clinical trials apce<linical testing. Even if the results of our piviopdase 11l clinical trials are positive, we ¢
our licensees may have to commit substantial tinteadditional resources to conduct further gieical and clinical studies before we or
licensees can submit NDAs or obtain regulatory epgrfor our product candidates.

Clinical trials are expensive and at times difftctd design and implement, in part because theysabgect to rigorous regulatc
requirements. Further, if participating subjectpatients in clinical studies suffer druglated adverse reactions during the course of sialh
or if we, our licensees or the FDA believes thatipigating patients are being exposed to unactdptaealth risks, we or our licensees |
suspend the clinical trials. Failure can occur ay atage of the trials, and we or our licenseesidcamcounter problems causing
abandonment of clinical trials or the need to candalditional clinical studies, relating to a protloandidate.

Even if our clinical trials and laboratory testinge completed as planned, their results may nqia@tgommercially viable prodt
label claims. The clinical trial process may faildemonstrate that our product candidates areassafeeffective for their intended use. S
failure may cause us or our licensees to abangwoduct candidate and may delay the developmeothefr product candidates.

We have no commercial manufacturing capacity andyren third-party contract manufacturers to produasur commercial quantities.

We do not have the facilities, equipment or pergbim manufacture commercial quantities of our piiccandidates and theref
must rely on our licensees or other qualified thuedty contract manufactures with appropriate fiesl and equipment to contract manufac
commercial quantities of products utilizing our Asien® and Impede™ Technologies. These licensees artighity contract manufactur
are also subject to cGMP regulations. Any perforoea failure on the part of our licensees or comtnamanufacturers could del
commercialization of any approved products, depgvis of potential product revenue.

Our drug candidates, including our Impede™ PSE @&tablrequire precise, high quality manufacturif@ilure by our contra
manufacturers to achieve and maintain high manufexgt standards could result in patient injury @ath, product recalls or withdraw:
delays or failures in testing or delivery, cost wuas, or other problems that could materially adely affect our business. Cont
manufacturers may encounter difficulties involviprgduction yields, quality control, and quality asmce. These manufacturers are subije
ongoing periodic unannounced inspection by the DA corresponding state and foreign agencies tarerssrict compliance with cGMP &
other applicable government regulations; however,do not have control over third-party manufactireompliance with these regulatic
and standards.
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If for some reason our contract manufacturers capadorm as agreed, we may be required to replaeen. Although we belie!
there are a number of potential replacements, we inur added costs and delays in identifying andlifying any such replacements.
addition, a new manufacturer would have to be etdlcia, or develop substantially equivalent proesdsr, production of our drug candidates.

We or our licensees may not obtain required FDA apyal; the FDA approval process is time-consumingdexpensive.

The development, testing, manufacturing, markegind sale of pharmaceutical products are subjesttensive federal, state and Ic
regulation in the United States and other count@adisfaction of all regulatory requirements tyblig takes years, is dependent upon the
complexity and novelty of the product candidate] amquires the expenditure of substantial resouimesesearch, development and tes
Substantially all of our operations are subjeatampliance with FDA regulations. Failure to adherepplicable FDA regulations by us or
licensees would have a material adverse effect umoperations and financial condition. In addition,the event we are successfu
developing product candidates for distribution aatk in other countries, we would become subjemgalation in such countries. Such fore
regulations and product approval requirements gpected to be time consuming and expensive.

We or our licensees may encounter delays or rejestiluring any stage of the regulatory review gmut@val process based upon
failure of clinical or laboratory data to demongtraompliance with, or upon the failure of the prodcandidates to meet, the FRA’
requirements for safety, efficacy and quality; éimase requirements may become more stringent dakaoges in regulatory agency polic
the adoption of new regulations. After submissidram NDA the FDA may refuse to file the applicatiateny approval of the applicatis
require additional testing or data and/or requstfnarketing testing and surveillance to monitor thfety or efficacy of a product. The FI
commonly takes more than a year to grant final @pgdrfor an NDA. The Prescription Drug User Fee ABIDUFA") sets time standards
FDA's review of NDA’s. The FDA's timelines described in the PDUFA goaare flexible and subject to change based oklean and othe
potential review issues and may delay the Fb#&view of an NDA. Further, the terms of apprasahny NDA, including the product labelit
may be more restrictive than we or our licensesge@nd could affect the marketability of our prots.

Even if we comply with all the FDA regulatory regements, we or our licensees may never obtain aggyl approval for any of o
product candidates. If we or our licensees failotatain regulatory approval for any of our produenndidates, we will have few
commercialized products and correspondingly lowerenues. Even if regulatory approval of our proslustreceived, such approval n
involve limitations on the indicated uses or proima&l claims we or our licensees may make for eodpcts, or otherwise not permit label
that sufficiently differentiates our product caratiels from competitive products with comparableapeutic profiles but without abuse deter
features. Such events would have a material aewffsect on our operations and financial conditid¥ie may market certain of our prod
without the prior application to and approval bg fDA. The FDA may subsequently require us to dvilv such products and submit NRA’
for approval prior to re-marketing.

The FDA also has the authority to revoke or suspamalovals of previously approved products for eaws debar companies ¢
individuals from participating in the drugpproval process, to request recalls of allegedjative products, to seize allegedly violal
products, to obtain injunctions to close manufantuplants allegedly not operating in conformitythvcurrent Good Manufacturing Practi
(“cGMP™) and to stop shipments of allegedly violative pradudn the event the FDA takes any such actioatired to our products (if any ¢
approved by FDA), such actions would have a mdtadeerse effect on our operations and financiabdion.
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We must maintain FDA approval to manufacture clirat supplies of our product candidates at our fatyli failure to maintair
compliance with FDA requirements may prevent or dglthe manufacture of our product candidates andst® of manufacture may t
higher than expected.

We have installed the equipment necessary to metuéaclinical trial supplies of our Aversion@&d Impede™ Technology prod
candidates in tablet formulations at our Culvedidna facility. To be used in clinical trials, afl our product candidates must be manufact
in conformity with cGMP regulations. All such prarticandidates must be manufactured, packaged ateted and stored in accordance
cGMPs. Modifications, enhancements or changes inufaaturing sites of marketed products are, in meingumstances, subject to F
approval, which may be subject to a lengthy appbecaprocess or which we may be unable to obtaim. Qulver, Indiana facility, and those
any thirdparty manufacturers that we or our licensees may ase periodically subject to inspection by theAFBnd other governmen
agencies, and operations at these facilities coelohterrupted or halted if the FDA deems sucheetipns are unsatisfactory. Failure to con
with FDA or other governmental regulations can hesufines, unanticipated compliance expendituresall or seizure of products, total
partial suspension of production or distributiomsgension of FDA review of our product candidatesmination of ongoing resear
disqualification of data for submission to regutgtauthorities, enforcement actions, injunctiond ariminal prosecution.

We develop our products, and manufacture clinicalpplies, at a single location. Any disruption dtis facility could adversely affe
our business and results of operations.

We rely on our Culver, Indiana facility for develng our product candidates and the manufacturdimital supplies of our produ
candidates. If the Culver, Indiana facility wer@nthged or destroyed, or otherwise subject to dismpit would require substantial legidae
to repair or replace. If our Culver facility weadfected by a disaster, we would be forced to egiirely on CROs and third party conti
manufacturers while repairs were being made. Algfnowe believe we possess adequate insurance fioaggato our property and for -
disruption of our business from casualties, susluiance may not be sufficient to cover all of oateptial losses and may not continue t
available to us on acceptable terms, or at allrddeer, any disruptions or delays at our Culvedjdna facility could impair our ability
develop our product candidates utilizing the Avem® or Impede™ Technologies, which could adverselyftaur business and results
operations.

Our operations are subject to environmental, healihd safety, and other laws and regulations, withieh compliance is costly and
which exposes us to penalties for non-compliance.

Our business, properties and product candidatesudnject to federal, state and local laws and egguls relating to the protection
the environment, natural resources and worker iheeidtl safety and the use, management, storageigpabadl of hazardous substances, v
and other regulated materials. Because we owrpprcate real property, various environmental lalss anay impose liability on us for t
costs of cleaning up and responding to hazardobstauces that may have been released on our propeetuding releases unknown
us. These environmental laws and regulations edgadd require us to pay for environmental remediatind response costs at thixaity
locations where we dispose of or recycle hazardobstances. The costs of complying with theseouarenvironmental requirements, as
now exist or may be altered in the future, couldeaigely affect our financial condition and reswat®perations.

If our licensees do not satisfy their obligationsie will be unable to develop our licensed produahdidates.

On October 30, 2007, we entered into an Agreemétht ing (as more fully described under the captititem 1. Business King
Agreement”). At December 31, 2010 we had recei@gdregate payments of $58.3 million from King, dstisg of a $30.0 million non-
refundable upfront cash payment, $17.3 milliomaimbursed research and development expensesigetatiour licensed product candida
$6.0 million in option exercise fees relating tonkis exercise of its option to license an undisclospibid analgesic tablet product ¢
Vycavert® with Niacin Tablets, and a $5.0 million milestore frelating to our successful achievement of thmary end points for our pivot
Phase Il clinical study for Acurox®ith Niacin Tablets . Our future revenue, if amyll be derived from milestone payments and rogs
under the King Agreement and under similar licemgeements anticipated to be potentially negotiatetiexecuted with other pharmaceu
companies. No assurance can be given that weegillive the milestone and royalty payments providedh the King Agreement, or that
will be successful in entering into similar agreetsewith other pharmaceutical companies to devalup commercialize products utilizing
Aversion® or Impede™ Technologies.
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As part of such license agreements, we will notehday-today control over the activities of our licenseethwespect to any prodt
candidate. If a licensee fails to fulfill its ofditions under an agreement with us, we may be artaldssume the development of the prc
candidate covered by that agreement or to enteraliérnative arrangements with another thiedty. In addition, we may encounter delay
the commercialization of the product candidate thdhe subject of a license agreement. Accordingly ability to receive any revenue fr
the product candidates covered by such agreemehitsendependent on the efforts of our licensee. &eld be involved in disputes witt
licensee, which could lead to delays in or termarabf, our development and commercialization paogs and result in time consuming
expensive litigation or arbitration. In additiomyasuch dispute could diminish our licenseebmmitment to us and reduce the resources
devote to developing and commercializing our praslulé any licensee terminates or breaches itsemgeat, or otherwise fails to complete
obligations in a timely manner, our chances of eastully developing or commercializing our prodoahdidates would be materially adver:
effected. Additionally, due to the nature of therkes for our product candidates, it may be necgsfarus to license all or a significant port
of our product candidates to a single company themiminating our opportunity to commercialize ethproduct candidates with ot
licensees.

If we fail to maintain our license agreement withikkg, we may have to reduce or delay our product diatate development.

Our plan for developing, manufacturing and comnadizing Acurox®Tablets and other opioid analgesic product candgatilizing
our Aversion®Technology currently requires us to successfullyintain our license agreement with King. In additittn other customa
termination provisions, the King Agreement providieat King may terminate the King Agreement at éime upon written notice to us.
King elects to terminate the King Agreement, oré are otherwise unable to maintain our existitgti@nship with King, we may have to lir
the size or scope of, or delay or abandon the dpuwent of, Acurox®Tablets (with and without niacin) and other opiaidalgesic produ
candidates or undertake and fund development ofeth@oduct candidates ourselves. If we were reduice fund development a
commercialization efforts with respect to AcuroX@blets and other opioid analgesic product candilah our own, we may need to ob
additional financing, which may not be availableamteptable terms, or at all.

If King is not successful in commercializing Acuro® Tablets (with or without niacin) and other licensegroduct candidate
incorporating the Aversion® Technology our revenues and our business will suffe

Pursuant to the King Agreement, King is responsibienanufacturing, marketing, pricing, promotirsglling, and distributing certe
of our product candidates in the US, Canada andiddeXf such agreement is terminated in accordamite its terms, including due tc
party’s failure to perform its obligations or responsilgs under the agreement, then we would neednmnercialize the products ourselves
which we currently have no infrastructure or algively enter into a new agreement with anotherrplaaeutical company, of which
assurance can be given. In this event our revesmug®r royalties for these products could be axblgimpacted.

King's manufacturing facility is currently the sat@mmercial source of supply for Acur8xTablets and our other product candid
licensed to King. If Kings manufacturing facility fails to obtain sufficie®EA quotas for the opioid active ingredients camd in suc
product candidates, fails to source adequate diemf active and inactive ingredients, fails mwmply with regulatory requirements,
otherwise experiences disruptions in commercialpsupf our product candidates, product revenue aund royalties could be advers
impacted.

King has a diversified product line for which Acur® Tablets and our other product candidates licensdtirig will vie for King's
promotional, marketing, and selling resourcesKitfg fails to commit sufficient promotional, markgg and selling resources to our prodt
product revenue and our royalties could be adwerselpacted. Additionally, in view of Pfizer, Ins.’recent acquisition of Kit
Pharmaceuticals in February, 2011, there can kessorance that Pfizer will commit the resourcesired for the successful development
commercialization of our product candidates.

The market for our opioid product candidates isiigompetitive with many marketed non abuse detdgrbrand and generic prodt
and other abuse deterrent product candidates iela@went. If King prices our product candidateapioropriately, fails to position c
products properly, targets inappropriate physicipecialties, or otherwise does not provide sufficgromotional support, product revenue
our royalties could be adversely impacted.

The market may not be receptive to products incogimg our Aversion® Technology
The commercial success of our products will depemdcceptance by health care providers and othatstich products are clinice
useful, cost-effective and safe. There can be saraace given that our products utilizing the Ai@® or Impede™ Technologies would

accepted by health care providers and others. Fatttat may materially affect market acceptanceufproduct candidates include but are
limited to:
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- the relative advantages and disadvantages of odupts compared to competitive products;
« the relative timing to commercial launch of our gwots compared to competitive produt

« the relative safety and efficacy of our productmpared to competitive produc

« the product labeling approved by the FDA for owdarcts;

« the willingness of third party payers to reimbufseour prescription products; a

« the willingness of consumers to pay for our prodL

Our product candidates, if successfully developed eommercially launched, will compete with bothremtly marketed and ne
products launched in the future by other comparieslth care providers may not accept or utilizg ahour products. Physicians and o
prescribers may not be inclined to prescribe oodpcts unless our products demonstrate commerdcigdlyle advantages over other prod
currently marketed for the same indications. Cameig may not be willing to purchase our produttsour products do not achieve mat
acceptance, we may not be able to generate signififevenues or become profitable.

If we, our licensees or others identify serious atlse events or deaths relating to any of our prottuonce on the market, we may
required to withdraw our products from the markethich would hinder or preclude our ability to genate revenues.

We or our licensees are required to report to eelevegulatory authorities all serious adverse &ven deaths involving our prodi
candidates or approved products. If we, our lieess or others identify such events, regulatorpaittes may withdraw their approvals
such products; we or our licensees may be requiredformulate our products; we or our licenseey imave to recall the affected prodt
from the market and may not be able to reintrodheen onto the market; our reputation in the maikegmay suffer; and we may become
target of lawsuits, including class actions suisy of these events could harm or prevent saleh®faffected products and could mater
adversely affect our business and financial coouliti

In the event that we or our licensees are succeksflbringing any products to market, our revenuesay be adversely affected if we -
to obtain insurance coverage or adequate reimbursetnfor our products from third-party payers.

The ability of our licensees to successfully conuiadize our products may depend in part on thelabiity of reimbursement for o
prescription products from government health adstiation authorities, private health insurers, atiger thirdparty payers and administratc
including Medicaid and Medicare. We cannot pretle availability of reimbursement for newly-apprdveroducts utilizing our Aversidh
Technology. Thirdsarty payers and administrators, including statedibbd programs and Medicare, are challenging ttieep charged fi
pharmaceutical products. Government and other-frartly payers increasingly are limiting both coveragd the level of reimbursement
new drugs. Thirgsarty insurance coverage may not be available teema for any of our products candidates. The iooimng efforts o
government and thirgarty payers to contain or reduce the costs oftihealre may limit our commercial opportunity. Ifugsnment and oth
third-party payers do not provide adequate covelage® reimbursement for any product utilizing ourefsion® Technology, health ca
providers may not prescribe them or patients mdy their health care providers to prescribe comgetmoducts with more favorat
reimbursement. In some foreign markets, pricing praditability of pharmaceutical products are sabje government control. In the Uni
States, we expect there may be federal and stapogals for similar controls. In addition, we expiat increasing emphasis on managed
in the United States will continue to put pressomethe pricing of pharmaceutical products. Costrdmitiatives could decrease the price
we or our licensees charge for any of our prodircthe future. Further, cost control initiativesut impair our ability or the ability of o
licensees to commercialize our products and odityatn earn revenues from commercialization.

Consolidation in the healthcare industry could lead demands for price concessions or to the exalasdf some suppliers from certs
of our markets, which could have an adverse effeatour business, financial condition or results ofperations.

Because healthcare costs have risen significamtinerous initiatives and reforms by legislaturegutators and thirgharty payers 1
curb these cost increases have resulted in a tretige healthcare industry to consolidate produgptiers and purchasers. As the healtt
industry consolidates, competition among supplierprovide products to purchasers has become méease. This in turn has resulted
will likely continue to result in greater pricinggssures and the exclusion of certain suppliers famportant market segments as gi
purchasing organizations, and large single accoants#tinue to use their market power to influencedpct pricing and purchasi
decisions. We expect that market demand, goverhmneguilation, thirdparty reimbursement policies and societal presswiksontinue tc
influence the worldwide healthcare industry, raagltin further business consolidations, which magre further downward pressure on
prices of our anticipated products. This downwaritipg pressure may adversely impact our businéeancial condition or results
operations.
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Our success depends on our ability to protect aueilectual property.

Our success depends on our ability to obtain anidtaia patent protection for products developediaitig our technologies, in tl
United States and in other countries, and to eefthese patents. The patent positions of pharmaektirms, including us, are gener
uncertain and involve complex legal and factualsjoas. Notwithstanding our receipt of U.S. Pafdat 7,201,920, U.S. Patent No. 7,476,
and U.S. Patent No. 7,51026 from the United States Patent and Trademark®©{fUSPTO”)encompassing our opioid product candid
utilizing our Aversion® Technology, there is no assice that any of our patent claims in our otherding nonprovisional and provision
patent applications relating to our technologieB issue or if issued, that any such patent claimisbe valid and enforceable against third-
party infringement or that our products will nofringe any thirdparty patent or intellectual property. Moreovery gatent claims relating
our technologies may not be sufficiently broad tot@ct our products. In addition, issued patentntdamay be challenged, potenti
invalidated or potentially circumvented. Our patelstims may not afford us protection against coiibgrst with similar technology or perr
the commercialization of our products without inffing third-party patents or other intellectualgetty rights.

Our success also depends on our not infringingnpaissued to others. We may become aware of gabehdnging to competitors €
others that could require us to obtain licensesutth patents or alter our technologies. Obtainug dicenses or altering our technology ct
be time consuming and costly. We may not be ablebtain a license to any technology owned by aniged to a third party that we or
licensees require to manufacture or market onearerof our products. Even if we can obtain a Igerthe financial and other terms ma'
disadvantageous.

Our success also depends on maintaining the comigdiéy of our trade secrets and kndww. We seek to protect such informatior
entering into confidentiality agreements with enygles, potential licensees, raw material supplievsiract research organizations, con
manufacturers, potential investors, consultants @her parties. These agreements may be breachsddbyparties. We may not be abl
obtain an adequate, or perhaps, any remedy toaiebach. In addition, our trade secrets may ofiserlvecome known or be independe
developed by our competitors. Our inability to peitour intellectual property or to commercialiag products without infringing thirgharty
patents or other intellectual property rights wolidtle a material adverse affect on our operatiadgiaancial condition.

We may become involved in patent litigation or othiatellectual property proceedings relating to oukversion® or Impede™
Technologies or product candidates which could résa liability for damages or delay or stop our delopment and commercializatis
efforts.

The pharmaceutical industry has been charactebyeignificant litigation and other proceedingsasting patents, patent applicati
and other intellectual property rights. The sitoiasi in which we may become parties to such litayatr proceedings may include:

« litigation or other proceedings we may initiate iagathird parties to enforce our patent right®threr intellectual property rights;

- litigation or other proceedings we may initiate iagathird parties seeking to invalidate the peagdmld by such third parties ol
obtain a judgment that our products do not infrisgeh third parti¢’ patents

« litigation or other proceedings third parties maiiate against us to seek to invalidate our patento obtain a judgment that tr
party products do not infringe our pater
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- if our competitors file patent applications thadint technology also claimed by us, we may be fotogghrticipate in interferen
or opposition proceedings to determine the priasftinvention and whether we are entitled to patggitts on such invention; ar

- if third parties initiate litigation claiming thatur products infringe their patent or other intefiieal property rights, we will need
defend against such proceedir

The costs of resolving any patent litigation orestintellectual property proceeding, even if resdhin our favor, could be substani
Many of our potential competitors will be able testin the cost of such litigation and proceedimgse effectively than we can becaus
their substantially greater resources. Uncertantisulting from the initiation and continuationpaftent litigation or other intellectual prope
proceedings could have a material adverse effecuprability to compete in the marketplace. Patgigation and other intellectual prope
proceedings may also consume significant managetimest

Our technologies or products may be found to igirclaims of patents owned by others. If we deteenar if we are found to
infringing a patent held by another party, we, suppliers or our licensees might have to seekemdie to make, use, and sell the pate
technologies and products. In that case, we, gopl®rs or our licensees might not be able to obsaich license on acceptable terms, or &
The failure to obtain a license to any third pagghnology that may be required would materiallynha@ur business, financial condition
results of operations. If a legal action is brougb&inst us, we could incur substantial defensescaad any such action might not be resc
in our favor. If such a dispute is resolved agairsstwe may have to pay the other party large safmsoney and use of our technology anc
testing, manufacturing, marketing or sale of onenare of our products could be restricted or pritéib Even prior to resolution of sucl
dispute, use of our technology and the testing,ufeanturing, marketing or sale of one or more of praducts could be restricted or prohibited.

We are aware of certain United States and inteynakipending patent applications owned by thirdigsrwith claims potential
encompassing our product candidates. While we dexmmect the claims contained in such pending pateplications will issue in their pres
form, there can be no assurance that such patefitaons will not issue as patents with claimg@npassing one or more of our prot
candidates. If such patent applications resulvatd and enforceable issued patents, containiagng in their current form or otherw
encompassing our products we or our licensees magduired to obtain a license to such patentsjldlane be available, or alternatively, &
our products so as to avoid infringing such tipatty patents. If we or our licensees are unablebtain a license on commercially reason
terms, or at all, we or our licensees could beridst or prevented from commercializing our praguddditionally, any alterations to ¢
products or our technologies could be time consgnaind costly and may not result in technologiepr@ducts that are nonfringing ot
commercially viable.

We cannot assure you that our technologies, predaatd/or actions in developing our products willt mafringe thirdparty
patents. Our failure to avoid infringing thipghrty patents and intellectual property rightstie tlevelopment and commercialization of
products would have a material adverse affect aroparations and financial condition.

We may be exposed to product liability claims andymot be able to obtain adequate product liabilitgurance.

Our business exposes us to potential product iigbiksks, which are inherent in the testing, mamtdiring, marketing and sale
pharmaceutical products. Product liability claimigimi be made by patients, or health care providergthers that sell or consume our prodi
These claims may be made even with respect to fhaskicts that possess regulatory approval for ceroia sale. We are currently cove
by clinical trial product liability insurance on@aimsimade basis. This coverage may not be adequatevey emy product liability claim
Product liability coverage is expensive. In theufet we may not be able to maintain or obtain qurcduct liability insurance at a reason:
cost or in sufficient amounts to protect us agalasses due to product liability claims. Any claithst are not covered by product liabi
insurance could have a material adverse effectuoibosiness, financial condition and results ofrafiens. Reference is made to the discu
under the caption “ltem 3 — Legal Proceedings —I&e§ /Metoclopramide Litigation’for a discussion of pending product liability liigor
filed against the Company in each of Pennsylvaxé@y Jersey and California.

The pharmaceutical industry is characterized bgueat litigation. Those companies with significinancial resources will be bet

able to bring and defend any such litigation. Nsuaance can be given that we would not become wedoin such litigation. Such litigati
may have material adverse consequences to ouicfalaondition and results of operations.
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We face significant competition which may result athers developing or commercializing products bef@r more successfully than \
do.

The pharmaceutical industry is highly competitivedais affected by new technologies, governmentglulegions, health ca
legislation, availability of financing, litigatiomnd other factors. If our product candidates rexéiDA approval, they will compete witt
number of existing and future drug products andapies developed, manufactured and marketed bysotBisting or future competi
products may provide greater therapeutic conveeientinical or other benefits for a specific indica than our products, or may ol
comparable performance at lower costs. If our pctglare unable to capture and maintain market sharer our licensees may not achi
significant product revenues and our financial ¢oon and results of operations will be materiaiyversely affected.

We or our licensees will compete for market shagairest fully integrated pharmaceutical companiesotirer companies tt
collaborate with larger pharmaceutical companiesadamic institutions, government agencies and othdrlic and private reseal
organizations. Many of these competitors have petsdalready approved, marketed or in developmaraddition, many of these competiti
either alone or together with their collaboratiatpers, operate larger research and developmegtgms, have substantially greater finar
resources, experience in developing products, wmibiFDA and other regulatory approvals, formulgtiand manufacturing drugs, ¢
commercializing products than we do.

We are concentrating a substantial majority of efforts and resources on developing product camesdatilizing our Aversion®nc
Impede™ Technologies. The commercial success oflyats utilizing such technologies will depend, arge part, on the intensity
competition, FDA approved product labeling for quoducts compared to competitive products, andréetive timing and sequence
commercial launch of new products by other compad&veloping, marketing, selling and distributimgducts that compete with the prodi
utilizing our Aversion® and Impede™ Technologiedternative technologies and napioid products are being developed to improv
replace the use of opioid analgesics. In the ettatt such alternatives to opioid analgesics areslyiddopted, then the market for prod
utilizing our Aversion® and Impede™ Technologiesynha substantially decreased thus reducing ouityatnl generate future profits.

Key personnel are critical to our business and aurccess depends on our ability to retain them.

We are dependent on our management and sciermtifin,tincluding Andrew D. Reddick, our President @tief Executive Office
Robert Jones, our Senior Vice President and Chiefr&ing Officer, and Albert W. Brzeczko, Ph.D.r Mice President of Technical Affairs.
We may not be able to attract and retain personnebhcceptable terms given the competition for spelsonnel among biotechnolo
pharmaceutical and healthcare companies, univesstnd norprofit research institutions. While we have empleyrmagreements with cert.
employees, all of our employees arendt-employees who may terminate their employmentaay time. We do not have key persol
insurance on any of our officers or employees. [Biss of any of our key personnel, or the inabitityattract and retain such personnel,
significantly delay or prevent the achievement of @roduct and technology development and busimégsctives and could materia
adversely affect our business, financial condiiod results of operations.

The U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration (“DEA”)imits the availability of the active ingredientssed in our product candidates and,
a result, our quota may not be sufficient to comgeclinical trials or may result in development dgfs.

The DEA regulates certain finished drug products active pharmaceutical ingredients, includingaaerbpioid active pharmaceuti
ingredients and pseudoephedrine HCI in our cuppenduct candidates. Consequently, their manufactesearch, shipment, storage, sale
use are subject to a high degree of regulatiorthEtmore, the amount of active ingredients we d#ain for our clinical trials is limited by tl
DEA and our quota may not be sufficient to complgieical trials. There is a risk that DEA regutats may interfere with the supply of
products used in our clinical trials.
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Prior ownership changes limit our ability to use otax net operating loss carryforwards.

Significant equity restructuring often results in Baternal Revenue Section 382 ownership changelithds the future use of N
Operating Loss (“NOL"xarryforwards and other tax attributes. We haverdaned that an ownership change (as defined Iojid®e382 o
the Internal Revenue Code) did occur as a resukesifucturing that occurred in 2004. Neither &neount of our NOL carryforwards nor -
amount of limitation of such carryforwards claim@dus have been audited or otherwise validatedhbéyriternal Revenue Service, which cc
challenge the amount we have calculated. The rétog and measurement of our tax benefit includsmates and judgment by
management, which includes subjectivity. Changesstimates may create volatility in our tax ratdiiture periods based on new informa
about particular tax positions that may cause mamagt to change its estimates.

Risks Relating to Our Common Stock
Our quarterly results of operations will fluctuategnd these fluctuations could cause our stock pricedecline.

Our quarterly and annual operating results ardyit@fluctuate in the future. These fluctuatiormsilt cause our stock price to decl
The nature of our business involves variable factsuch as the timing of the research, developmeehtregulatory submissions of our prot
candidates that could cause our operating resufisdtuate. The forecasting of the timing of saté our product candidates is difficult du
the uncertainty inherent in seeking FDA and otherassary approvals for our product candidatesa Aesult, in some future quarters or y
our clinical, financial or operating results mayt nteet the expectations of securities analystdrarestors which could result in a decline in
price of our stock.

Volatility in stock prices of other companies magrdribute to volatility in our stock price.

The market price of our common stock, like the reargrice for securities of pharmaceutical and lubt®logy companies, h
historically been highly volatile. The stock marketm time to time experiences significant priced arolume fluctuations unrelated to
operating performance of particular companies. dfactsuch as fluctuations in our operating resdlifyre sales of our common stc
announcements of technological innovations or neerapeutic products by us or our competitors, ancements regarding collaboralt
agreements, laboratory or clinical trial resultsyvgrnment regulation, FDA determinations on therayal of a product candidate NI
submission, developments in patent or other prtgsierights, public concern as to the safety ofgdrdeveloped by us or others, chang:
reimbursement policies, comments made by secusdtiatysts and general market conditions may hasubatantial effect on the market p
of our common stock. In the past, following periads/olatility in the market price of a compasysecurities, securities class action litige
and shareholder derivative litigation has oftenrbistituted. A securities class action suit orrehalder derivative suit against us could re
in substantial costs, potential liabilities and theersion of managemestattention and resources and result in a matadigdrse affect on o
financial condition and results of operations. ékefice is made to the discussion under the cafitem 3 —Legal Proceedings Securitie
Class Action and Derivative Litigatiorfor a discussion of a pending securities clas®adiiigation filed against us in the United Stalsstrict
Court for the Northern District of lllinois, EasteDivision, and three shareholder derivative sfiiexl in the Circuit Court of Cook Coun
lllinois, Chancery Division.

Our stock price has been volatile and there may betan active, liquid trading market for our commaatock.

Our stock price has experienced significant pricel aolume fluctuations and may continue to expeervolatility in the
future. Factors that have a material impact onptfiee of our common stock, in addition to the etissues described herein, include resul
or delays in our prelinical and clinical studies, any delays in, oituge to receive FDA approval of our product caradés, the success of |
license agreement with King, announcements of t@dgncal innovations or new commercial productsusyor others, developments in pat
and other proprietary rights by us or others, fatsales of our common stock by existing stockhsldexgulatory developments or change
regulatory guidance, the departure of our officeiggctors or key employees, and periogptriod fluctuations in our financial results. A
you may not be able to sell your shares at therhasket price if trading in our stock in not actiweif the volume is low. There is no assur
that an active trading market for our common stwitkbe maintained on the NASDAQ Capital Market.
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The National Association of Securities Dealers,,loc NASD, and the Securities and Exchange Coniaris®r SEC, have adop!
rules relating to the listing of publicly tradeask. If we were unable to continue to comply witltls rules, we could be delisted from trac
on the NASDAQ Capital Market and thereafter tradmgur common stock, if any, would be conductedtigh the Over-th&ounter Bulletil
Board of the NASD. As a consequence of such degjstin investor would likely find it more difficult dispose of, or to obtain quotations ¢
the price of, our common stock. Delisting of oungoon stock from the NASDAQ Capital Market couldaatssult in lower prices per share
our common stock than would otherwise prevail.

We do not have a history of paying dividends on @emmon stock.

Historically we have not declared and paid any dadisldends on our common stock. We intend toimetdl of our earnings for tt
foreseeable future to finance the operation anémesipn of our business. As a result, you may oatgive a return on your investment in
common stock if the market price of our common lsiocreases.

GCE Holdings LLC can control all matters requiringpproval by shareholders.

GCE Holdings LLC beneficially owns approximately. 7% of our outstanding common stock as of Decerihef010 (calculated
accordance with Rule 138lpromulgated under the Securities Exchange Ad98#, as amended). As a result, GCE Holdings Lih@jew of
its ownership percentage of our common stock, lpéliable to control all matters requiring approwablar shareholders, including the apprt
or rejection of mergers, sales or licenses of mfiubstantially all of our assets, or other busiresmbination transactions. The interests of '
Holdings LLC may not always coincide with the irgsts of our other shareholders and as such we akayattion in advance of its interest
the detriment of our other shareholders. Accorgingou may not be able to influence any actiontale or consider taking, even if it requ
a shareholder vote.

We are currently a “Controlled Companyivithin the meaning of the NASDAQ Capital Market Ltisg Requirements and, as a rest
are exempt from certain corporate governance regurents.

Because GCE Holdings LLC controls more than 50%hefvoting power of our common stock, we are culyeconsidered to be
“controlled companyfor purposes of a NASDAQ Capital Market listing uggments. As such, we are permitted, and haveesgleto opt ot
of the NASDAQ Capital Market listing requirementsat would otherwise require our board of directimrdave a majority of independ
directors, our board nominations to be selectedecommended for the boasdselection either by a nominating committee cosgatientirel
of independent directors or by a majority of indeghent directors, and our compensation committeleeteomprised entirely of independ
directors. Accordingly, you may not have the sgmatections afforded to stockholders of compariied are subject to all of the NASD/
Capital Market corporate governance requirements.

Any future sale of a substantial number of sharagciuded in our current registration statement coultepress the trading price of o
stock, lower our value and make it more difficuldf us to raise capital.

In accordance with the terms of the Securities Ifase Agreement dated August 20, 2007 between utharidvestors named ther¢
we filed a registration statement with the SECegister the shares included in our Units issuedyanmt to the Securities Purchase Agreer
including shares underlying warrants included ia Units. In addition, pursuant to the exercisgmviously granted piggyback registral
rights, each of GCE Holdings, LLC, Galen PartnéisLLP., Galen Partners International I, L.Palén Employee Fund llI, L.P., Care Caf
Investments Il, LP, Care Capital Offshore Investtadh LP and Essex Woodlands Health Ventures \P. lhave exercised their piggyb.
registration rights to include an aggregate of 26,816 shares in such registration statement. Assalt, 34,243,273 shares (represet
approximately 74.7% of our shares outstanding aunlg-diluted basis -including all derivative securities, whether or watrently exercisabl
are included in the registration statement for leesg selling stockholders. Such registrationestant was declared effective by the SE(
November 20, 2007. If some or all of such shametuded in such registration statement are soldwyaffiliates and others it may have
effect of depressing the trading price of our comrstock. In addition, such sales could lower cailug and make it more difficult for us
raise capital if needed in the future.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

The Company has received no written comments reéggaperiodic or current reports from the staff loé ISEC that were issued 180
days or more preceding the end of its 2010 fiseal yhat remain unresolved.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We lease from an unaffiliated Lessor, approximaieB00 square feet of administrative office spacg@l® N. North Court, Suite 1Z
Palatine, lllinois 60067. The lease agreement hésrra expiring March 31, 2012. The lease agreempeotides for rent, property tax
common area maintenance, and janitorial servicemaennualized basis of approximately $29,00€r year. We utilize this lease space foi
administrative, marketing and business developrierdtions.

We conduct research, development, laboratory, dpwetnt scale and NDA submission batch scale manufiag and other activitie
relating to developing product candidates usingréiee® and Impede™ Technologies at our facility located @235 State Road 17, Culv
Indiana. At this location, our whollgwned subsidiary Acura Pharmaceutical Technologdies, owns a 25,000 square foot facility with Q
square feet of warehouse, 8,000 square feet of faetowing space, 4,000 square feet of researctdanelopment labs and 6,000 square fe
administrative and storage space. The facilitpéated on 28 acres of land.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Securities Class Action and Derivative Litigation

A lawsuit captionedBang v. Acura Pharmaceuticals, et,alas filed on September 10, 2010 in the UnitedeSt®istrict Court for the Northe
District of lllinois, Eastern Division (Case 1:19-05757) against us and certain of our current anudo officers seeking unspecified dame
on behalf of a putative class of persons who pwetiaur common stock between February 21, 200®\arit22, 2010. The complaint allec
that certain of our officers made false or mislegdstatements, or failed to disclose material fatisrder to make statements not misleac
relating to our Acurox®vith Niacin Tablets product candidate, resultingziolations of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exiche Act of 193
(the “Exchange Act”), Rule 106-under the Exchange Act and Section 20(a) of tteh&hge Act. The complaint further alleges thahsialse
or misleading statements or omissions had the teffeartificially inflating the price of our commostock. On January 11, 2011, the C
appointed a group of three stockholders as LeadtPla. The Lead Plaintiffs have not yet filedeihamended complaint. We believe that
allegations in the complaint are without merit amtend to vigorously defend the litigation.

On October 25, 2010, Kiley Hill, a purported stoolder of the Company filed a shareholder derivatiedon inthe Circuit Court of Coc
County, lllinois, Chancery Division captionétill v. Acura Pharmaceuticalst al. (Case No. 2010-CK6380), against our directors and cel
of our executive officers, generally relating te ttame events that are the subject of the clammditigation described above. The compl
purports to be brought on our behalf and namessua aominal defendant. The complaint seeks unsedcifamages from the individ
defendants for breaches of fiduciary duty, abuseoatrol, gross mismanagement, contribution anenmaification, waste of corporate as:
and unjust enrichment for actions occurring fronteast February 21, 2006 through April 22, 2010bstantively similar complaints captior
Hagan v. Acura Pharmaceuticaet al. (Case No. 2010-CH-46621) aN@well v. Reddiclet al (Case No. 2010-CHKeE873) were filed ¢
October 27, 2010 and October 28, 2010, respectivelyhe Circuit Court of Cook County, lllinois, @hcery Division, by other purport
stockholders of the Company. We have agreed tmpdeary stay of these actions.

Reglan® /Metoclopramide Litigation

Halsey Drug Company, as predecessor to the Compasybeen named along with numerous other compasiasdefendant in ca
filed in three separate state coordinated litigetigpending in Pennsylvania, New Jersey and Caldprrespectively captioned In
Reglan® /Metoclopramide Mass Tort Litigation, PHidphia County Court of Common Pleas, January T@60t0, No. 01997; In re: Reglan
Litigation, Superior Court of New Jersey, Law Diweis, Atlantic County, Case No. 289, Master Dockeb. NATL-L-3865-10; ant
Reglan®Metoclopramide Cases, Superior Court of Califorr8an Francisco County, Judicial Council Coordinatleroceeding No. 463
Superior Court No.: CJC-1004631. In this product liability litigation againnumerous pharmaceutical product manufacturetsietributors
including the Company, plaintiffs claim injuriesofn their use of the Reglan@rand of metoclopramide and generic metoclopramidethe
Pennsylvania state court mass tort proceeding, B@dawsuits have been filed against the CompanyHaisey Drug Company alleging t
Plaintiffs developed neurological disorders assaulteof their use of the Reglan®and and/or generic metoclopramide. Plaintiffgehaot ye
served any individual lawsuits upon the Companyhim New Jersey and California actions. In the latgsfiled to date, Plaintiffs have r
confirmed they ingested any of the generic metaelopde manufactured by the Company. The Compasgodiinued manufacture ¢
distribution of generic metoclopramide more thany¥ars ago. The Company believes these claimsvéilheut merit and will vigorousl
defend these actions.
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ITEM 4. (RESERVED)
PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market and Market Prices of Common Stot

Set forth below for the periods indicated are tighland low sales prices for trading in our comnstock on the NASDAQ Capil
Market as reported by the NASDAQ Capital Market.

Period Sale Price:
High Low

2009 Fiscal Yeal

First Quartel 7.6¢ 4.07

Second Quarte 9.0C 4.8t

Third Quartel 6.51 4.8t

Fourth Quarte 5.7¢ 4.0C
2010 Fiscal Yea

First Quartel 6.0¢€ 4.3¢

Second Quarte 9.1z 2.5C

Third Quartel 2.9t 2.2t

Fourth Quarte 3.9¢ 2.2

2011 Fiscal Yea
First Quarter (through January 31, 20 3.62 2.91

Holders

There were approximately 600 holders of recordwf@mmon stock on February 28, 2011. This numib@mnever, does not refle
the ultimate number of beneficial holders of oumoaon stock.

Dividend Policy

The payment of cash dividends is subject to thereimn of our Board of Directors and is dependgidn many factors, including ¢
earnings, our capital needs and our general fishoondition. Historically we have not paid any ltavidends.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

Reference is made to the Company’s Proxy Statefoeits 2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders undier¢aption Compensation
Executive Officers and DirectorsRestricted Stock Unit Award Plan; and Securitieghduzed for Issuance under Equity Compens:i
Plans”.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data presebédolw for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2R098, 2007 and 2006 :
derived from our audited Consolidated Financiatetents. The Consolidated Financial Statement$ Becember 31, 2010 and 2009 anc
each of the years in the thrgear period ended December 31, 2010, and the seffmteon, are included elsewhere in this Repbwt. Selecte
financial information presented for our 2007 an@@@perations and for our 2008, 2007 and 2006 balaheets are derived from our auc
Consolidated Financial Statements not presentédsrReport.

The information set forth below is qualified by esfnce to, and should be read in conjunction wtke, Consolidated Financ
Statements and related notes thereto included kkyewin this Report and "ltem 7. Management's Bisicn and Analysis of Financ
Condition and Results of Operations". All shareadgives effect to the 1 for 10 reverse stock gpilemented December 5, 2007.

OPERATING DATA (in thousands) except per share 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Revenue! $ 3311 $ 383 $ 44,437 $ 6,40¢ $ =
Operating expense

Research and developme?) 7,17 5,672 14,32: 7,16¢ 5,172

Marketing, general and administrati@ 8,85¢ 11,66: 9,13: 4,141 5,654
Interest expens — — — (1,207%) (1,140
Interest incomt 42 147 78C 26€ 18
Amortization of debt discount & deferred privatebt

offering costs — — — (2,700 (183
(Loss) gain on fair value change of conversionufiesg — — — (3,487 4,23t
(Loss) gain on fair value change of common st

warrants — — — (1,905 2,16¢
Other (expense) incon (14) 3 3 19 (23%)
(Loss) income before income t (12,699 (13,35¢) 21,75¢ (13,919 (5,967
Income tax expense (benel 11 2,47¢ 7,28¢ (9,600 —
Net (loss) income applicable to common stockhol: $ (12,709 $ (15,83%) $ 14,47 $ 4,319 $ (5,967)
(Loss) earnings per share: Ba $ 0.27) $ (0.35) $ 03z $ (0.11) $ (0.75)
(Loss) earnings per share: Dilut $ 0.27) $ (035 $ 02¢ % 0.1 $ (0.75)
Weighted average shares used in computing netreg

(loss) per share: Bas 47,02¢ 45,93: 45,67¢ 39,157 34,49¢
Weighted average shares used in computing netreg

(loss) per share: Dilute 47,02¢ 45,93: 49,41¢ 39,157 34,49¢

(1) Includes stock-based compensation expensepobrimately $1,700, $1,900, $600, $400 and $2, b0 ¢ars 2010, 2009, 2008, 2007 and
2006, respectively.

(2) Includes stoclbased compensation expense of approximately $5$0800, $3,300, $500 and $3,500 for years 20109,22008, 2007 ar
2006, respectively.

BALANCE SHEET DATA®)

(in thousands 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Working capital (deficiency $ 23,28¢ $ 28,75( $ 35,99, $ 22,30t $ (28,64))
Total asset 25,49: 31,915 42,96 45,62¢ 1,61¢
Total debt, ne® — — — — 28,78’
Total liabilities 1,152 2,007 5,897 26,90¢ 39,89¢
Accumulated defici (335,92 (323,22) (307,38() (321,86() (317,549
Stockholders' equity (defici 24,347 % 29,91( $ 37,06c $ 18,72( $ (38,280

(3) Reflects $30 million received from King in Decker, 2007.
(4) Includes estimated fair value of conversiortdess of convertible debt outstanding as of Decer3the2006.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This discussion and analysis should be read inucatipn with our financial statements and accompanpotes included elsewhere
this Report. Operating results are not necessardicative of results that may occur in the futperiods. Certain statements in this Re
under this Item 7, Item 1, "Business”, Item 1A, sRiFactors” and elsewhere in this Report constititevard{ooking statements” within tl
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation RefoAnt of 1995. Such forwartboking statements involve known and unknown r
uncertainties and other factors which may causeactural results, performance or achievements arsing results, to be materially differ:
from any future results, performance, or achievamerpressed or implied by such forwdmdking statements. See page 3 of this Repor
description of the most significant of such factors

Company Overview

We are a specialty pharmaceutical company engagedsearch, development and manufacture of procundidates intended
provide abuse deterrent features and benefitzingliour proprietary Aversion® and Impede™ Techgae. Our Aversion®Technolog
opioid analgesic product candidates are intendedffectively relieve pain while simultaneously discaging common methods of opi
product misuse and abuse, including:

« intravenous injection of dissolved tablets or cégs!
« nasal snorting of crushed tablets or capsules
« intentional swallowing of excess quantities of &blor capsules (when product candidates are fatedilvith niacin)

In addition to our opioid product candidates uitilig Aversion®Technology, we are investigating and developingehavechanisms
incorporate abuse deterrent features into additiabased and misused pharmaceutical productshisnrégard we have developed Impec
PSE, a pseudoephedrine hydrochloride (“PS&b)et product utilizing our Impede™ Technologmpede™ Technology utilizes a propriet
mixture of functional inactive ingredients intendedimit or impede extraction of PSE from the &tlfor use as a starting material in produ
the illicit drug methamphetamine. We are also tigiag an undisclosed benzodiazepine product catelidtilizing Aversion®Technolog'
intended for the treatment of anxiety disorders.

Company’s Present Financial Condition

At December 31, 2010, we had cash and cash eqnotgadé $24.0 million compared to $30.2 million afsh and cash equivalent:
December 31, 2009. We had working capital of $28il8on at December 31, 2010 compared to workingited of $28.8 million at Decemk
31, 2009. We had an accumulated deficit of appnakely $335.9 million and $323.2 million at DecemBé&, 2010 and December 31, 2(
respectively. We had a loss from operations of exiprately $12.7 million and a net loss of $12.7lioil for the year ended December
2010, compared to a loss from operations of $13llfbmand a net loss of $15.8 million for the yearded December 21, 2009. As of Febr
28, 2011 we had cash and cash equivalents of ajppatedy $22.2 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, we rezedmievenues of $3.3 million derived from the $illion amortized portion ¢
the $30.0 million upfront cash payment receivedrfiging in December 2007 and $2.2 million for reimd®ment of research and developr
expenses for Acurof Tablets and Acurox®ith Niacin Tablets licensed to King under the Kiligreement. During the year ended Decel
31, 2009, we recognized revenues of $3.8 millioriveéd from the $3.0 million amortized portion ofetl$30.0 million upfront cash paym
received from King in December 2007 and $0.8 millfor reimbursement of reimbursement of researchdavelopment expenses for Acu
® Tablets. We have yet to generate any product salesyalty revenues from product sales. To fund @ontinued operations, we expec
rely on our current cash resources, additional matmthat may be made under the King Agreemenuadeér future license agreements \
other pharmaceutical company partners, of whichetltan be no assurance of obtaining, and reveifuasy, from our commercialization
our Impede™ PSE Tablets. Our cash requirement®gerating activities may increase in the futurenascontinue to conduct pidnical
studies and clinical trials for our product candésa maintain, defend, if necessary and expandstbpe of our intellectual property, f
additional personnel, contract with third party tant manufacturers for the commercial supply of lmmpede™ PSE Tablets, commercia
our Impede™ PSE Tablets, or invest in other areas.
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In 2008, we recognized revenue of $44.4 millionidt from the $21.9 million amortized portion o&t830.0 million norrefundabl:
cash payment received from King in December 20870 $illion in option exercise fees paid to us bind<for the licenses to the third &
fourth opioid analgesic product candidates licensedKing under the King Agreement, $5.0 million Bn Acurox® with Niacir
Tablets development milestone payment receivecth fking, and $11.5 million paid to us by King forimbursement of research ¢
development expenses for Acurox@th Niacin Tablets . Our losses have resultedgypially from costs incurred in connection with rase
and development activities, salaries and otheroperel+elated costs and general corporate expenses.aiRbsand development activit
include costs of prelinical studies, clinical trials, and clinicaldfiproduct supplies associated with our productickies. Salaries and ot
personnel-related costs include non-cash, sbaded compensation associated with stock optioms restricted stock units granted
employees and non-employee directors.

Results of Operations for the Years Ended Decembgr2010 and 200

December 3:
2010 2009 Change
$00C's $00C's Percen
Revenues
Program fee revent 1,08¢ 3,075 (1,989 (65)
Collaboration fee revent 2,22: 75¢ 1,46¢ 19z
Total revenue 3,311 3,83t (529 (149
Operating expenst
Research and developmt 7,17 5,67: 1,50/ 27
Marketing, general and administrati 8,85¢ 11,66: (2,809 (24)
Total operating expens 16,03t 17,33¢ (2,300 8
Loss from operation (12,724 (13,500 (77€) (6)
Other income (expens
Interest incom 42 147 (105) (72)
Other expens (14) 3 11 367
Total other incom: 28 144 (11€) (81)
Loss before income te (12,69¢) (13,35¢) (660) 5)
Income tax expens 11 2,47¢ (2,46%) (100)
Net loss (12,709 (15,839 (3,12¢) (20

Revenue

In December 2007, King paid us a $30.0 million opfrfee in connection with the closing of the KiAgreement. Program f
revenue recognized during 2010 from amortizing tipiBont fee was $1.1 million compared to $3.0 imillin 2009. We have assigned an e
portion of the program fee revenue to each of thpemduct candidates identified under the King Agreat. We have completed 1
development activities on 2 of the 3 product caattid and fully amortized the portion of the upfréee for those two product candidate
2008. We currently estimate the development peidodhe third product candidate to extend throdghe 2011. We had no milestone reve
in 2010 or 2009.

Collaboration revenue recognized in 2010 was $2lom for reimbursement, pursuant to the King Agmeent, of our Acura®
Tablets and Acurox®vith Niacin Tablets development and regulatory egas incurred during 2010. We invoice King in arseon a calend
quarter basis for our reimbursable development ragdilatory expenses under the King Agreement. Weea the amount and timing
collaboration revenue to fluctuate in relationte eamount and timing of the underlying researchdeklopment expenses. The Company
collaboration revenue of $0.8 million for 2009.
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Operating Expenses

Research and development expense during 2010 &8v&€re primarily for product candidates utiliziogr Aversion®and ImpedeT
Technologies, including costs of preclinical stgdielinical trials, clinical supplies and relatarhulation and design costs, salaries and
personnel related expenses, and facility costsludied in the 2010 and 2009 results are non-castkbased compensation charges of
million and $1.9 million, respectively, associatedth the grant of stock options and restricted ktamits. Excluding the stochkase:
compensation expense, in 2010 there was a $1.7omilhcrease in development expenses compared @ P@imarily attributable
development activities for our benzodiazepine pobadandidate, an extended release opioid produudidate, and our Impede™ PSE te
product.

Marketing expenses during 2010 and 2009 consistedaoket research studies on our Aversica® Impede™ Technologies. (
general and administrative expenses primarily atediof legal, audit and other professional feegyarate insurance, and payroll. Include
the 2010 and 2009 results are non-cash dhasled compensation charges of $5.1 million and 8#liBn, respectively, associated with
grant of stock options and restricted stock utitecluding the stockased compensation expense, in 2010 there wag@adeoof $0.6 millic
in marketing, general and administrative expensespared to 2009.

Other Income (Expense)

During 2010 and 2009, we had no debt and cash pdsceeceived pursuant to the King Agreement weresited in U.S. Treast
Bills and money market funds in accordance with itheestment policy approved by our Board of Direstaesulting in minimal intere
income in 2010 and $0.1 million in 2009 due to pinevailing low variable, market rates of interest.

Net Loss

The Company records its tax provision using a 4@féctve tax rate. The net loss of $12.7 milliom #8910 includes no federal or st
income tax benefit provisions due to uncertaintythair future utilization. A state tax provisionaw recorded for the Compasysubsidiar
operations apportioned to one state jurisdictibhe Companys net loss of $15.8 million for 2009 included inaiax expense of $2.5 milli
recorded when we adjusted our deferred income gagtavaluation reserve. We determined it was mketylthan not that the Comparsyhe
operating loss carryforwards may not be utilized.

Results of Operations for the Years Ended Decem®kr2009 and 200

December 3:
2009 2008 Change
$00C's $00C's Percen
Revenue:
Program fee revent 3,077 27,94 (24,869 (89)%
Collaboration fee revent 75€ 11,49¢ (20,739 (93)%
Milestone revenu — 5,00(C (5,000 (100)%
Total revenue 3,83t 44,43 (40,602) (91)%
Operating expenst
Research and developmt 5,67: 14,32: (8,649 (60)%
Marketing, general and administrati 11,66 9,13: 2,52¢ 28%
Total operating expens: 17,33t 23,45¢ (6,120 (26)%
(Loss) income from operatiol (23,500 20,98: (34,487 (1649)%
Other income (expens
Interest incom: 147 78C (633) (81)%
Other expens 3 3 — —
Total other incomi 144 777 (633) (81)%
(Loss) income before income t (13,35¢) 21,75¢ (35,115 (161)%
Income tax expens 2,47¢ 7,28¢ (4,80¢) (66)%
Net (loss) incomu (15,839 14,47 (30,309 (209)%
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Revenue

In December 2007, King paid us a $30.0 million opfrfee in connection with the closing of the KiAgreement. Program f
revenue recognized during 2009 from amortizing tipfront fee was $3.0 million compared to $21.9lioml in 2008. We have assigned
equal portion of the program fee revenue to eacthiafe product candidates identified under the Kiggeement. We have completed
development activities on 2 of the 3 product caattid and have fully amortized the portion of th&am fee for those two product candid:
in 2008. At that time, we estimated the developinperiod for the third product candidate would éndecember, 2010. Also, included
program fee revenue in 2008 are two $3.0 milliotiawpexercise fees paid by King to us in May 2008 ®ecember 2008, upon the exer
of its option to license a third and fourth opi@dalgesic product candidate under the King AgreénianJune 2008, King paid us a $
million milestone payment for successfully achieyithe primary end points in our pivotal Phase tidy, AP-ADF-105 for Acurox®with
Niacin Tablets. We had no milestone revenue in 2

Collaboration revenue recognized in 2009 was $0lBomfor reimbursement, pursuant to the King Agneent, of our Acurox®uvith
Niacin Tablets development and regulatory expemsesred during 2009. We invoice King in arrears arcalendar quarter basis for
reimbursable development and regulatory expensdsrithe King Agreement. We expect the amount anihg of collaboration revenue
fluctuate in relation to the amount and timing eé inderlying research and development expensesCdmpany had collaboration revenu
$11.5 million for 2008.

Operating Expenses

Research and development expense during 2009 &&v@€ére primarily for product candidates utiliziogr Aversion®Technology
including costs of preclinical, clinical trials,imical supplies and related formulation and desigsts, salaries and other personnel re
expenses, and facility costs. Included in the 2808 2008 results are non-cash stbeked compensation charges of $1.9 million and
million, respectively, associated with the grantstdck options and restricted stock units. Exclgdine stocksased compensation expel
there is a $10.0 million decrease in developmeperses primarily attributable to a reduction of olimical study costs. During 2008,
conducted and completed our pivotal Phase Il cdihirial for Acurox® with Niacin Tablets.

Marketing expenses during 2009 and 2008 considstéd/ersion® Technology customized market data research stu@iesgener:
and administrative expenses primarily consistedegél, audit and other professional fees, corpoirsgarance, and payroll. Included in
2009 and 2008 results are non-cash stuacked compensation charges of $7.3 million and ®8I®n, respectively, associated with the graf
stock options and restricted stock units. Excludimg stockbased compensation expense, there was a decre&desahillion in marketing
general and administrative expenses including et of $0.9 million in payroll, $0.3 million legand accounting professional services,
$0.3 million state franchise taxes.

Other Income (Expense)

During 2009 and 2008, we had no debt and cash edsceeceived pursuant to the King Agreement weragsily invested in mone
market funds, U.S. Treasury Bills, bank commerpiber, and overnight sweep investments, resultingterest income of $0.1 million a
$0.8 million, respectively.

Net Income (Loss)

Deferred income taxes have been recognized in pears for temporary differences between finanstalement and income tax be
of assets and liabilities and loss cafoywards for which income tax benefits are expedtede realized in future years. During 2009
recorded a valuation allowance to reduce our nietrdsl income tax assets to the amount that is filaky than not to be realized. Our net |
of $15.8 million for 2009 includes a provision for income tax exgen$ $2.5 million for such adjustment to our valoatallowance as v
determined that the utilization of certain defertad assets recorded in prior years could not bsamably predicted based upon finar
forecast for succeeding years.

Our net income of $14.5 million for 2008 includepravision for income tax expense of $8.5 milliohigh has been partially offset
$1.2 million of income tax benefits recorded frone &anticipated utilization of some of our defertar assets arising from net operating
carryforwards.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2010, we had cash and cash eqofsabé $24.0 million compared to $30.2 million iash and cash equivalent:
December 31, 2009. We had working capital of $28ifion at December 31, 2010 compared to $28.8ionilat December 31, 2009. 1
decreases in our 2010 cash position and workingatagf $6.2 million and $5.5 million, respectivelgnd the cash flows used in opera
activities of $6.5 million for the year ended Dedem 31, 2010, are primarily due to development waykducted on product candidates
licensed to King. Our investing activities in 20&@re less than $0.1 million in capital expendisuend in 2009 our investing activit
included capital expenditures of $0.2 million ared maturities of short-term investments of $5.0iomil

At February 28, 2011, we had cash argh equivalents of approximately $22.2 million. Watimate that such cash reserves wil
sufficient to fund the development of Aversiorf@chnology and Impede™ Technology product candslated related operating expense
least through the next 12 months.

Pending our receipt of milestone payments and tiegairom King related to product candidates depetbunder the King Agreeme
other milestone and royalty payments under sinlianse agreements anticipated to be negotiatedeaaduted with other pharmaceut
company partners, and revenues from the commezaia of our Impede™ PSE tablets, of which no emste can be given, we must rely
our current cash reserves, including interest iredrom the investment of our cash reserves, to fimddevelopment of our Aversien
Technology, Impede™ Technology and related adnmmatise and operating expenses. Our future sourtesvenue, if any, will be deriv
from milestone payments and royalties under thegkgreement and under similar license agreemenits ether pharmaceutical comp:
partners, and from the commercialization of our éag@™ PSE tablets, for which there can be no asseran

The amount and timing of our future cash requireserill depend on regulatory and market acceptarficair product candidates ¢
the resources we devote to the development and eoomtization of our product candidates.

The following table presents our expected cash eaysnon contractual obligations outstanding asexfdnber 31, 2010:

Payments due by period (in thousar

Less thar 1-3 3-5 More than
Total 1 year years years 5 years
Operating lease $ 36 $ 29 $ 7 $ — $ —
Clinical studies® 68 68 — — —
Employment agreemen 88¢ 88¢ — — —
Total $ 99z % 98¢ $ 7 $ — $ —

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not engage in transactions or arrangemetttsunconsolidated or other special purpose entities
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Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of our financial statements in eda&once with United States generally accepted adowuprinciples requires us to me
estimates and assumptions that affect the repatedunts of assets, liabilities, revenues and exgsems our financial statements
accompanying notes. We evaluate our estimates oongoing basis, including those estimates relate¢dntract agreements, rese:
collaborations and investments. We base our estgnat historical experience and various other apsans that we believe to be reason
under the circumstances, the results of which ftrenbasis for making judgments about the carryi@iges of assets and liabilities that are
readily apparent from other sources. Actual resuigy differ from these estimates under differersuagptions or conditions. The followi
items in our financial statements require signiftcastimates and judgments:

Revenue Recognition, Deferred Program Fee Revemti€allaboration Revent

We recognize revenue when there is persuasive magdéhat an arrangement exists, delivery has oeduthe price is fixed a
determinable, and collection is reasonably assureda:onnection with King Agreement, we recognizegram fee revenue, collaborat
revenue and milestone revenue.

Program fee revenue is derived from amortized uppfpayments, such as the $30.0 million upfront parytrfrom King received
December 2007, and license fees, such as the $idnrnoption exercise fee paid by King to us irckaf May 2008 and December 2008 u
the exercise of its option to license a third amagrth opioid analgesic product candidate undekiing Agreement. We have assigned an €
portion of King’s $30.0 million upfront payment to each of threeduct candidates identified in the King Agreemeamd secognize the upfrc
payment as program fee revenue ratably over oimat of the development period for each identifiedduct candidate. We recogniz&t 1
million, $3.1 million and $21.9 million of this pgoam fee revenue in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respéctive

Collaboration revenue is derived from reimbursemehtdevelopment expenses, which are invoiced qugrie arrears, and a
recognized when costs are incurred pursuant tiKihg Agreement. The ongoing research and developreervices being provided to Ki
under the collaboration are priced at fair valusdaupon the reimbursement of expenses incurresliant to the collaboration with King. \
recognized $2.2 million, $0.8 million and $11.5 million of collabation revenue in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectiotlyhich $0.1 millior
and $0.4 million were current receivables at Decan®i, 2010 and 2009, respectively

Milestone revenue is contingent upon the achieveérokgertain pre-defined events in the developrma@nAcurox® Tablets and oth
product candidates licensed to King under the Kiggeement. Milestone payments from King are recogghias revenue upon achievemel
the “at risk” milestone events, which represent the culminatibthe earnings process related to that milestondeskbne payments ¢
triggered either by the results of our research dexklopment efforts or by events external to ushsas regulatory approval to mark
product. As such, the milestones are substantalisisk at the inception of the King Agreement, dhd amounts of the payments assig
thereto are commensurate with the milestone actidweaddition, upon the achievement of a milestement, we have no future performa
obligations related to that milestone payment. Eadlestone payment is non-refundable and omditable when made. In June 2008, |
paid us a $5.0 million milestone payment for susfidly achieving the primary endpoints in our paoPhase Il study, AP-ADEO5 fol
Acurox® with Niacin Tablets.

Research and Developme

Research and Development (“R&D") expenses inclugternal R&D activities, external Contract Reseaf@tganization (“CRO)
services and their clinical research sites, anérodlativities. Internal R&D activity expenses imdé facility overhead, equipment and fac
maintenance and repairs, laboratory supplies, lmeal laboratory experiments, depreciation, selsrbenefits, and shabased compensati
expenses. CRO activity expenses include preclimédadratory experiments and clinical trial studi@sher activity expenses include regula
consulting, and regulatory legal counsel. IntefR&D activities and other activity expenses are gbdrto operations as incurred. We n
payments to the CRO's based on agreed upon temin®ay include payments in advance of the studyistadate. We review and accrue C
expenses and clinical trial study expenses basedeovices performed and rely upon estimates ofethmsts applicable to the stage
completion of a study as provided by the CRO. AedrCRO costs are subject to revisions as sucliestpdogress to completion. Revisi
are charged to expense in the period in which #loésfthat give rise to the revision become knowe. Mive entered into several cancel
CRO arrangements and our obligations under theaagements were approximately $68,000 and $1.4omidit December 31, 2010 and 2(
respectively, for services to be incurred as subjare enrolled and progress through the studies.
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Income Taxe

We account for income taxes under the liability moet Under this method, deferred income tax asmadsliabilities are determin
based on differences between financial reportindjianome tax basis of assets and liabilities amdnaeasured using the enacted incom:
rates and laws that will be in effect when theatighces are expected to reverse. Additionallyppetating loss and tax credit carryforwards
reported as deferred income tax assets. The adializof deferred income tax assets is dependeott fyture earnings. A valuation allowal
against deferred income tax assets is requirdobged on the weight of available evidence, it igenlikely than not that some or all of
deferred income tax assets may not be realized.rat@ded adjustments by way of increase of $2lBomito the deferred income tax as
valuation allowance during 2009. This adjustmertogmized a $2.5 million tax expense from incomee$ain our income for 2009.
December 31, 2010, 100% of the deferred incomeatmets are offset by a valuation allowance duententainties with respect to futi
utilization of net operating loss carryforwardsirfthe future it is determined that amounts of daferred income tax assets would likely
realized, the valuation allowance would be reducetthe period in which such determination is madd a benefit from income taxes in s
period would be recognized.

Stock Compensation

Compensation cost related to std@sed payment transactions is measured basedraalize of the equity or liability instrument isslL
For purposes of estimating the fair value of eaoblksoption unit on the date of grant, we utilizbé Black-Scholes optiopricing model. Th
Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed ferinsestimating the fair value of traded optionsjali have no vesting restrictic
and are fully transferable. In addition, option uation models require the input of highly subjeeti@ssumptions including the expet
volatility factor of the market price of our commatock (as determined by reviewing its historicablic market closing prices). C
accounting for stock-based compensation for rasttistock units (“RSUs”) is based on the feitue method. The fair value of the RSUs s
market price of our common stock on the date ofiglass its exercise cost.

Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures during 2010, 2009 and 206& $41,000, $220,000 and $143,000, respecti@apital expenditures in e¢
such year were primarily attributable to the pusghaf scientific equipment and improvements toGhéver, Indiana facility.

Impact of Inflation

We believe that inflation did not have a matenmapact on our operations for the periods reported.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

Some of the securities that we invest in may bgestibo market risk. Our primary objective in aash management activities i
preserve principal while at the same time maxingzimcome we receive from our investments. A changie prevailing interest rates n
cause the principal amount of our investments uotflate. We have no holdings of derivative finaheind commodity instruments. As
December 31, 2010, our investments consisted pifynafr investments in U.S. Treasury Bills and monayarket accounts with variable
market rates of interest.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The consolidated financial statements of Acura Plaaeuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary and the Repati@independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm thereon, to be filed pursutanitem 8 are included in Item 15.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Proceduréfe have conducted an evaluation, under the supenvéd with the participatic
of our management, including our Chief Executivdidef and Chief Financial Officer of the effectivess of the design and operation of
disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to &g Act Rule 1345(e). Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Exee®fficer and Chie
Financial Officer concluded that our disclosuretoois and procedures are effective in timely atgrtihem to material information relating
the Company (including our subsidiary) requirecb®included in our periodic Securities and Excha@genmission filings. No significa
changes were made in our internal controls or hemwfactors that could significantly affect thesmitols subsequent to the date of t
evaluation.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finah®eporting. Our management is responsible for establishimtraaintainin
adequate internal control over financial reportimgternal control over financial reporting is defd in Rule 13a-15(f) and 18i5(f)
promulgated under the Exchange Act as a procesgndésd by, or under the supervision of, our ppatiexecutive and principal financ
officers and effected by our board of directorsnagement and other personnel, to provide reasorasierance regarding the reliability
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsi@tements for external purposes in accordantte generally accepted accounting princi
and includes those policies and procedures that:

« Pertain to the maintenance of records that in retdle detail accurately and fairly reflect the sactions and disposition
our assets

« Provide reasonable assurance that transactionseaoeded as necessary to permit preparation ohdiaé statements
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipies; and that our receipts and expenditures amegbmade only i
accordance with authorizations of our managemeshti&ectors; an

« Provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, wsedisposition of ot
assets that could have a material effect on tlantial statement

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtsver financial reporting may not prevent or déteisstatements. Therefore, e
those systems determined to be effective can peowdly reasonable assurance with respect to finhratatement preparation ¢
presentation. Also, projections of any evaluatiéreffectiveness to future periods are subjechtrisk that controls may become inadeq
because of changes in conditions, or that the degfreompliance with the policies or procedures mieteriorate.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of teunah control over financial reporting as of Det®m31, 2010. In making t
assessment, management used the criteria setbiprthe Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of Theadway Commission (COSO)
Internal Control dntegrated Framework. Based on our assessmenggaarent believes that, as of December 31, 2010intennal contrc
over financial reporting is effective based on #hosteria.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repogin There was no change in our internal control diugancial reporting thi
occurred during the Fourth Quarter 2010 that maltgraffected, or is reasonably likely to mategadiffect, our internal control over financ
reporting.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not Applicable.

43




PART Il
Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

Reference is made to 2011 Proxy Statement to &e ¢ih or about March 15, 2011 with respect to Dine; Executive Officers al
Corporate Governance, which is incorporated hdrgireference and made a part hereof in respontbe tmformation required by Item 10.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

Reference is made to our 2011 Proxy Statement tlildge on or about March 15, 2011with respect teegitive Compensatic
which is incorporated herein by reference and naagart hereof in response to the information rexgubry Item 11.

ltem 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

Reference is made to our 2011 Proxy Statement fiteloeon or about March 15, 2011with respect te tiy the security ownership
certain beneficial owners and management and teltekholder matters, which is incorporated hebgimeference and made a part here
response to the information required by Item 12.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Reference is made to our 2011 Proxy Statement tbldge on or about March 15, 2011with respect totaia relationships ar
related transactions and direct independence, wikialicorporated herein by reference and made ahaseof in response to the informai
required by Item 13.

Item 14. AUDITOR FEES.

Reference is made to our 2011 Proxy Statement tfildgk on or about March 15, 2011with respect talitor fees, which i
incorporated herein by reference and made a pagsponse to the information required by Item 14.

PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) The following documents are filed as part af tieport:
1. All Financial Statements: See Index to Riial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedules: None
3. Exhibits: See Index to Exhibits
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 18{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized.

Date: March 1, 201 ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: ANDREW D. REDDICK
Andrew D. Reddicl
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of
registrant and in the capacities and on the datisated.

Signature Title(s) Date
/s/Andrew D. Reddicl President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc March 1, 201
Andrew D. Reddicl (Principal Executive Officet
/s/Peter A. Clemer Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi March 1, 201
Peter A. Clemen (Principal Financial and Accounting Office
/s/William G. Skelly Director March 1, 201

William G. Skelly

/s/Bruce F Wesso Director March 1, 201
Bruce F. Wesso

/s/William A. Sumnel Director March 1, 201
William A. Sumner

/s/Richard J. Markhar Director March 1, 201
Richard J. Markhar

/s/lmmanuel Thangari Director March 1, 201
Immanuel Thangar:

/s/IGeorge K. Ros Director March 1, 201
George K. Ros
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Palatine, Illinois

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of ibkee 31, 2010 and 2009 and
related consolidated statements of operationskistdders’equity, and cash flows for each of the three y@athe period ended December
2010. These financial statements are the respbtysidf the Companys management. Our responsibility is to expressg@nion on thes
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamloUnited States). Those stand
require that we plan and perform the audit to obt@asonable assurance about whether the finastaééments are free of mate
misstatement. The Company is not required to hasewere we engaged to perform an audit of itsriv@l control over financial reportir
Our audits included consideration of internal cohtiver financial reporting as a basis for desigrpaudit procedures that are appropria
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of esging an opinion on the effectiveness of the Comaimternal control over financ
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinian. audit also includes examining, on a test basiglence supporting the amounts
disclosures in the financial statements, assesbim@ccounting principles used and the signifiestimates made by management, as wi
evaluating the overall financial statement preg@naWe believe that our audits provide a reastmbasis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetearferred to above present fairly, in all materéspects, the financial position of Ac
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. at December 31, 2010 and,20@Pthe results of its operations and its cashdlfor each of the three years in the pe
ended December 31, 2010, in conformity with accimgnprinciples generally accepted in the United&taf America.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP

Chicago, lllinois
March 1, 2011
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31, 2010 and 2009
(in thousands except par values)

Assets
Current assel
Cash and cash equivalel
Collaboration revenue receival
Prepaid insuranc
Prepaid expenses and other current a
Total current asse
Property, plant and equipment, |
Total asset
Liabilities and Stockholde’ Equity
Current liabilities
Accrued expense
Deferred program fee revenue
Total current liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholder equity
Common stocl- $.01 par value; 100,000 shares authorized; 43,89431%28 shares issued &
outstanding in 2010 and 2009, respecti
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated defici
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbstaitements.
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2010 2009
$ 24048 $ 30,17
12€ 357
217 19z
57 33
24,44; 30,75
1,05: 1,16(
$ 2549 $ 31,91
$ 686 $ 457
46€ 1,55¢
1,15: 2,007
43¢ 437
359,83( 352,69
(335,92) (323,22)
24,34 29,91(
$ 2549 $ 31,91




Revenue!
Program fee revent
Collaboration revenu
Milestone revenue
Total revenu
Operating expenst
Research and developmt

ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

(in thousands except per share data)

Marketing, general and administrative

Total operating expenses
(Loss) income from operatiol
Other income (expens
Interest incomt
Other expense
Total other incom:
(Loss) income before income t
Income tax expens

Net (loss) income applicable to common stockhol

Earnings (loss) per sha
Basic
Diluted

Weighted average shar
Basic
Diluted

2010 2009 2008
1,08t $ 3,077 27,94
2,22: 75¢ 11,49¢

- - 5,00(
3,311 3,83t 44,43
7,177 5,67: 14,32:
8,85¢ 11,66: 9,13:
16,03 17,33 23,45
(12,729) (13,500) 20,98:

42 147 78C

(14 ©) ©)

28 14/ 777
(12,699) (13,35() 21, 75¢

11 2,47¢ 7,28¢
(12,70) $  (15,83Y 14,47
0.27) $ (0.35) 0.3
0.27) $ (0.35) 0.2¢
47,02 45,93; 45,67
47,02 45,93 49,41¢

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteigements.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

(in thousands except par values)

Common Stock Additional
$0.01 Par Valu Paic-in Accumulatel
Shares $ Amount Capital Deficit Total

Balance at Dec. 31, 20( 42,70¢ $ 427 $ 340,150 $ (321,860 $ 18,72(
Net income for the year ended Dec. 31, 2 - - 14,47¢ 14,47«
Other stoc-based compensatic - - 3,85( - 3,85(
Issuance of common shares for exercise of warrant 17 - 20 - 20
Balance at Dec. 31, 20( 42,720 $ 427 $ 344,020 $ (307,38) $ 37,06«
Net loss for the year ended Dec. 31, 2 - - - (15,83%) (15,83%)
Other stoc-based compensatic - - 9,20 - 9,20¢
Issuance of common shares for cashless exercisarcdnts 73C 7 (7) - -
Issuance of common shares for exercise of wa 5C 1 15¢ - 16C
Issuance of common shares for cashless exerciggtiohs and payrol

taxes 22E 2 (68E) - (683)
Balance at Dec. 31, 2009 43,72¢ $ 437 $ 352,69: $ (323,22) $ 29,9U
Net loss for the year ended Dec. 31, 2 - - - (22,707 (22,707
Other stoc-based compensatic - - 6,74¢ - 6,74¢
Issuance of common shares for cashless exercisarcdnts 43 1 (1) - -
Issuance of common shares for exercise of wa 12: 1 391 - 392
Balance at Dec. 31, 20: 43,89: $ 43¢ $ 359,83( $ (335,92) $ 24,34’

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteigements.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008

(in thousands, except supplemental data)

Cash flows from operating activitie
Net (loss) incomi
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to rRehc(used in) provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortizatic
Non-cash stock compensation expe
(Gain) loss on asset dispos
Deferred income taxe
Change in fixed asset impairment rese
Changes in assets and liabilit
Collaboration revenue receivat
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Deferred program fee reven
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activitie
Purchases of shiterm investment
Maturities of sho-term investment
Capital expenditure
Proceeds from asset dispos
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from exercise of warrant
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equiva
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe

Cash paid during the perio
Interest
Income taxe:

2010 2009 2008

$ (12,70) $  (1583Y) $ 14,47:
13¢ 13C 142

6,74¢ 9,20« 3,85(

14 @) 1

- 2,47¢ 7,10¢

- - (29)

231 3,17: (552)

(37) 222 207

- (382) 382

22€ (1,119 54¢

(1,089) (3,077) (21,94:)
(6,48() (5,209) 4,197

- - (26,039

- 5,03¢ 21,00

(41) (220) (149)

- - 1

(41) 4,81¢ (5,18])

392 16( 20

39z 16C 20

(6,129) (224) (970)
30,17+ 30,39¢ 31,36¢

$ 2404 $ 30,17: $ 30,30¢
$ - % - % 2
$ 20 $ 108 $ 82

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbstaitements.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008

Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing exah€ing activities presented on a reverse stoliklssis:
Year ended December 31, 2010

1. Warrants to purchase 65,000 shares of common stec& exercised in cashless exercise transacticustirey in the issuance of 43,(
shares of common stoc

Year ended December 31, 2009

1. Warrants to purchase 1,479,000 shares of commaik stere exercised in cashless exercise transactesdting in the issuance
730,000 shares of common sto

2. Options to purchase 525,000 shares of common steck exercised in cashless exercise transactiothsafier withholding shares 1
statutory minimum payroll taxes calculated at $688, the transactions resulted in the issuanc%{0P0 shares of common sto

Year ended December 31, 2008

1. Impaired fixed assets with a $52,000 net book valeee disposed and a $29,000 reduction in the izt allowance was favoral
recognized

2. A $1,177,000 valuation allowance against defernethine tax assets was removed which resulted imaal @mount recorded as a ber
against current income tax exper

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteigements.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

NOTE A - DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a New York corporatiand its subsidiary (the “Company”, “We”, or “Olirls a specialty pharmaceuti
company engaged in research, development and nwntgeof product candidates intended to providesaldeterrent features and ben
utilizing our proprietary Aversion® and Impede™ Theologies.

Amounts presented are rounded to the nearest thdsigxcept per share data.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
A summary of the significant accounting policiesisistently applied in the preparation of the accanying consolidated financial statem
follows.

1. Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include tbeoants of the Company and its whotlwned subsidiary, Acura Pharmaceu
Technologies, Inc. All significant intercompanycaants and transactions are eliminated in considiala

2. Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid securities with aniginal maturity of three months or less to be casfuivalents. Our cash and c
equivalent balances consist of U.S. Treasury Bitilsnoney market accounts and checking funds witialke, market rates of intere
From time to time, amounts may exceed the FedezakRe insurance limits however we believe ouritréxzk exposure is not materi
We believe the financial risks associated with ¢hiestruments are minimal and we have not expeg@m@ay losses from our investme
in these securities. Our cash and cash equivalstgjoverned by our investment policy as approweadudr Board of Directors. Tl
carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents appedgs its fair value due to its short-term nature.

3. Concentration of Credit Risk

We invest our excess cash in accordance with trestment policy approved by our Board of Directihiat seeks both liquidity and saf
of principal. The policy provides for investmentsinstruments issued by the United States goverharmahby commercial institutions w
strong investment grade credit ratings and plagstsictions on maturity terms and concentrationgypg and issuer.

4. Use of Estimates in Consolidated Financial Statents

The preparation of consolidated financial statemémtconformity with accounting principles geneyadiccepted in the United States
America requires management to make estimates aadassumptions that affect the reported amountasséts and liabilities a
disclosure of contingent liabilities at the datetloé consolidated financial statements, as welhasreported amounts of revenues
expenses during the reporting period. Actual restduld differ from those estimates. Managemenbgerally evaluates estimates use
the preparation of the consolidated financial stetets for continued reasonableness. Appropriatestadgnts, if any, to the estimates t
are made prospectively based on such periodic atiahs.

5. Inventories

We had no inventories at each of December 31, 20002009. Purchases of active pharmaceutical digmts and raw materials requi
for our development and clinical trial manufactofgoroduct candidates utilizing our Aversiorm®Impede™ Technologies are expense
incurred.

6. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at Emgtreciation is recorded on a straitihe basis over the estimated useful lives o
related assets. Leasehold improvements are anrbizea straightine basis over the shorter of their useful livesttee terms of the
respective leases. Betterments are capitalizedraidtenance and repairs are charged to operatomearred. The estimated lives of
major classification of depreciable assets are:
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Building and improvement 10- 40 years

Land improvement 20- 40 years
Machinery and equipmel 7-10 years
Scientific equipmen 5- 10 years
Computer hardware and softwe 3-10 years
Office equipmen 5-10 years

7. Revenue Recognition, Deferred Program Fee RevenuadCollaboration Revenue

We recognize revenue when there is persuasive ms@d¢hat an arrangement exists, delivery has oedurthe price is fixed al
determinable, and collection is reasonably assuredonnection with our License, Development, amuin@ercialization Agreement da
October 30, 2007 (the “King Agreement”) with Kingd@maceuticals Research and Development, Inc. {'Kinve recognize program f
revenue, collaboration revenue and milestone rexenu

Program fee revenue is derived from amortized upfpayments, such as the $30.0 million upfront paythfrom King received
December 2007, and license fees, such as the $Bidhnoption exercise fee paid by King to us inckaf May 2008 and December 2!
upon the exercise of its option to license a thind fourth opioid analgesic product candidate utigeKing Agreement. We have assig
an equal portion of King $30.0 million upfront payment to each of threeduct candidates identified in the King Agreement
recognize the upfront payment as program fee reveatably over our estimate of the developmentodefor each identified prodt
candidate. We expect to recognize the remaindeéhefprogram fee revenue for the third product @atd ratably over its remaini
development period which we currently estimaterid & June 2011. We recognized $1.1 million, $3illion, and $21.9 million of thi
program fee revenue in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respéct

Collaboration revenue is derived from reimbursentérievelopment expenses, which are invoiced quwgrite arrears, and are recogni:
when costs are incurred pursuant to the King AgeemThe ongoing research and development serligiag provided to King under t
collaboration are priced at fair value based upgwmn reimbursement of expenses incurred pursuartigaollaboration with King. W
recognized $2.2 million, $0.8 million, and $11.5limnh of collaboration revenue in 2010, 2009, a®d&, respectively, of which $0.1 ¢
$0.4 million were current receivables at Decemter2®10 and 2009, respectively.

Milestone revenue is contingent upon the achievérémrertain pre-defined events in the developnmnfcurox ® Tablets and oth
product candidates licensed to King under the Kikgreement. Milestone payments from King are recoeghias revenue up
achievement of the “at riskhilestone events, which represent the culminatiotih@ earnings process related to that milestoriteskbne
payments are triggered either by the results ofresearch and development efforts or by eventsreadtéo us, such as regulatory appr
to market a product. As such, the milestones abstantially at risk at the inception of the King rdgment, and the amounts of
payments assigned thereto are commensurate wittmitestone achieved. In addition, upon the achiex@nof a milestone event, we h.
no future performance obligations related to thdestone payment. Each milestone payment is namdble and nooreditable whe
made. In June 2008, we recognized milestone reveinan King paid us a $5.0 million payment for swstelly achieving the prima
endpoints in our pivotal Phase Il study, AP-ADF0r Acurox® with Niacin Tablets.

8. Research and Developmer

Research and Development (“R&D”) expenses includernal R&D activities, external contract reseaocpanization (“CRO”)activities
and other activities. Internal R&D activity expesdnclude facility overhead, equipment and facifitaintenance and repairs, deprecia
laboratory supplies, prelinical laboratory experiments, depreciation, saka benefits, and incentive compensation expei@R® activit)
expenses include preclinical laboratory experimemtd clinical trial studies. Other activity expessaclude clinical trial studies a
regulatory consulting, and regulatory counsel.riméR&D activities and other activity expenses @narged to operations as incurred.
make payments to the CRO's based on agreed upue gard may include payments in advance of the sitatying date. We review a
accrue CRO and clinical trial study expenses bagmmh estimates of those costs applicable to thgestd completion of a study
provided by the CRO. At December 31, 2010 we fmoeued $0.3 million of CRO and clinical trial syuekpenses.
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9. Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the liability moett Under this method, deferred income tax asseddiabilities are determined ba
on differences between the financial reporting tedincome tax basis of assets and liabilities amedmeasured using the enacted inc
tax rates and laws that will be in effect when tiferences are expected to reverse. Additionallst operating loss and tax cr
carryforwards are reported as deferred income sagta. The realization of deferred income taxtagsaependent upon future earning
valuation allowance is required against deferremnme tax assets if, based on the weight of availebidence, it is more likely than |
that some or all of the deferred income tax assetg not be realized. During 2009 the we determih@ghs more likely than not that
would not be able to realize our recorded defeimedme tax assets and we recorded an adjustméit.5fmillion to the deferred incor
tax asset valuation allowance and recognized aaresepfrom income taxes in such period. During 2088letermined it was more liki
than not that we would be able to realize somésadéferred income tax assets in the near futulgecorded an adjustment of $1.2 mil
to the deferred income tax asset valuation allowafbis adjustment recognized a benefit from incéames in our income for such peri
At both December 31, 2010 and 2009, 100% of allaiaing net deferred income tax assets were offget faluation allowance due
uncertainties with respect to future utilizationnaft operating loss carryforwards. If in the futitris determined that additional amount
our deferred income tax assets would likely beized| the valuation allowance would be reducedégeriod in which such determinat
is made and an additional benefit from income tamessich period would be recognized.

10. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

The computation of basic earnings (loss) per slohreommon stock is based upon the weighted avenageber of common shal
outstanding during the period, including shareateel to vested restricted stock units (See Not&Hg computation of diluted earnir
(loss) per share is based on the same number dsshaed in the basic share calculation adjustethéoeffect of other potentially diluti
securities. No such adjustments were made for 202009 as their effects would have been antidiuti

Year ended December &

2010 2009 2008
Basic earnings per she
Numerator:
Net (loss) income applicable to common stockhol $ (12,707 $ (15,83%) $ 14,47
Denominator
Common shares (weighte 43,84: 42,91: 42,71¢
Vested restricted stock units (weighted) 3,18 3,02( 2,95¢
Weighted average number of shares outstar 47,02¢ 45,93: 45,67¢
Basic earnings (loss) per common share $ (0.27) $ (0.35) $ 0.32
Diluted earnings (loss) per sh
Denominator
Common shares (weighte 43,84 42,91 42,71¢
Vested restricted stock units (weight: 3,187 3,02( 2,952
Stock options - - 1,445
Common stock warrants - - 2,30z
Weighted average number of shares outstar 47,02¢ 45,93: 49,41¢
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share $ (0.27) $ (0.35) $ 0.2¢
Excluded potentially dilutive securitie
Common stock issuable (1
Employee and director stock optic 4,24: 3,671 1,14¢
Common stock warran 2,19¢ 2,38( -
Non-vested restricted stock units 48 204 30
Total excluded dilutive shart 6,48¢ 6,25¢F 1,17¢

(1) Number of shares issuable represents thoseitsesuhich were either i) nonvested at year eniil) avere vested but antidilutive.
The number of shares is based on maximum numlsras€s issuable on exercise or conversion of theedesecurities as of year end.
Such amounts have not been adjusted for the tneataeck method or weighted average outstandingutations as required if the
securities were dilutive.
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11. Stock-Based Compensatiot

We have four stockased compensation plans covering stock optiongestdcted stock units for our employees and dines¢ which ar
described more fully in Note G.

We measure our compensation cost related to dized payment transactions based on fair valubeokquity or liability instrume
issued. For purposes of estimating the fair valueagh stock option unit on the date of grant, wikzae the Black-Scholes optiopricing
model. The Blackscholes option valuation model was developed fer insestimating the fair value of traded optionsiich have n
vesting restrictions and are fully transferable.alidition, option valuation models require the inpfi highly subjective assumptic
including the expected volatility factor of the rkar price of our common stock (as determined byewewg our historical public mark
closing prices).

Our accounting for stock-based compensation fdriogsd stock units (“RSUS”) is based on the fadtue method. The fair value of
RSUs is the market price of our common stock ordtte of grant, less its exercise cost.

12.  Accounting Developments

In October 2009, the FASB issued an amendmenstpréviously released guidance on revenue arrangsnagth multiple deliverable
This guidance becomes effective for the Comparthe@beginning of its 2011 fiscal year. The pron@ment addresses how to deterr
whether an arrangement involving multiple delivéeabcontains more than one unit of accounting aw the arrangement considera
should be allocated among the separate units ouating. The pronouncement may be applied retrdisfgbg or prospectively for new
materially modified arrangements and early adopsqgrermitted. The Company is currently assesdiegripact of adopting this guidan

NOTE B — LICENSE, DEVELOPMENT, AND COMMERCIALIZATIO N AGREEMENT

On October 30, 2007, we and King Pharmaceuticalse&eh and Development, Inc. (“King”), a wholiysned subsidiary of Kir
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., entered into a License, Dewmeent and Commercialization Agreement (the “KiAgreement”)to develop an
commercialize in the United States, Canada and ¢dethe "King Territory") certain opioid analgegitoducts utilizing our proprieta
Aversion® Technology. In addition, the King Agreement pra@sdKing with an option to license in the King T&ary certain future opio
analgesic products developed utilizing Averstohechnology. As of December 31, 2010, King had dgettits option to license two additio
product candidates including an undisclosed opandlgesic tablet product and Vycav@r{hydrocodone bitartrate/niacin/acetaminopl
Tablets, each of which utilize our Aversion® Teclogy. We are responsible for using commerciallgsanable efforts to develop Acu®x
with Niacin Tablets through regulatory approvalthg FDA. The King Agreement provides that we ondKimay develop additional opic
analgesic product candidates utilizing our Avergidrechnology and, if King exercises its option teefise such additional product candid:
they will be subject to the milestone and royaltyments and other terms of the King Agreement.

At December 31, 2010, we had received aggregatmeats of $58.3 million from King, consisting of 830 million nonrefundable upfroi
cash payment, $17.3 million in reimbursed researut development expenses relating to Acurox® Taldatl Acurox®with Niacin Tablets
$6.0 million in fees relating to King's exerciseitsf option to license an undisclosed opioid ansitg@ablet product and VycavétfTablets, an
a $5.0 million milestone fee relating to our sustelsachievement of the primary endpoints for owotal Phase Ill clinical study for Acurdk
with Niacin Tablets. The King Agreement also pa®s for King's payment to us of a $3.0 million fgeon King's exercise of its option f
each future opioid product candidate that utilipes Aversion®Technology (Future Product). In the event thatgKitoes not exercise

option for a Future Product, King may be requireddimburse us for certain of our expenses relgtnguch Future Product. Further, we |
receive up to $23 million in additional neefundable milestone payments for each productidatel licensed to King which achieve cer
regulatory milestones in specific countries in Kiag Territory. An opioid analgesic product cand@dormulated with and without niacin
considered a single product candidate for purpo§éise option fees and milestone payments payafdenuthe King Agreement. We can ¢
receive a ond¢ime $50 million sales milestone payment upon fh& ttainment of $750 million in net sales of aflour licensed produc
across all King Territories. In addition, for sakeccurring following the one year anniversarytad first commercial sale of the first licen
product sold, King will pay us a royalty at onegiX rates ranging from 5% to 25% based on the lefe&lombined annual net sales for
products licensed by us to King across all Kingriteres, with the highest applicable royalty rapplied to such combined ann
sales. King’s royalty payment obligations expireaoproduct by product and country-bgtintry basis upon the later of (i) the expiratidrihe
last valid patent claim covering such product ichsaountry, or (ii) fifteen (15) years from thestircommercial sale of such product in ¢
country.
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The King Agreement expires upon the expiration @igis royalty payment and other payment obligationseuride King Agreement. Kir
may terminate the King Agreement (i) in its engjrat any time by written notice to us, and (ii) viespect to any product at any time upot
provision of not less than 12 monthmior written notice. We may terminate the KingrAgment with respect to a product in the UnitedeS
in the event such product is not commercially ldgttby King within 120 days after receipt of regaig approval of such product or in
entirety if King commences any interference or agpfion proceeding challenging the validity or emfgability of any of our patent rigt
licensed to King under the King Agreement

NOTE C — PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are summarized &sifsi
December 31

2010 2009

Building and improvement $ 1,24: $ 1,46
Land and improvemen 161 161
Machinery and equipmel 43 26
Scientific equipmen 58: 56¢
Computer hardware and softwé 251 251
Office equipmen 27 27
Other personal proper 68 60

2,37¢ 2,55¢
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,327 (1,399
Total property, plant and equipment, $ 1,052 $ 1,16(

Depreciation and amortization expense for the yeaded December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008 was #flllldn, $0.13 million, and $0.1

million, respectively.

NOTE D — ACCRUED EXPENSES
Accrued expenses are summarized as follows:

December 31

2010 2009

Payroll, payroll taxes and benet 95 $ 89
Professional service 19z 16C
Franchise taxe 12 21
Property taxe 19 19
Clinical and regulatory servict 307 75
Other fees and servic 60 88

68€ $ 452

NOTE E — COMMON STOCK WARRANTS

The Company has outstanding common stock purchasamts at December 31, 2010 exercisable for 2lthmshares of common stock,
of which contain a cashless exercise feature. Theseants have an exercise price of $3.40 per sirateexpiration date of August 2014.
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NOTE F — INCOME TAXES
Provision for Income Taxes
The reconciliation between our provision for incotages and the amounts computed by multiplying nmedloss) before taxes by the U
statutory tax rate of 34% is as follows :
December 31

2010 2009 2008
Tax (benefit) at U.S. statutory tax r: $ (4,320 $ (4,547 $ 7,39¢
State tax (benefit), net of federal effi (56) (41€) 1,51¢
Research and development tax cre (45) (200) (229
Wage reported sto-based compensatic - (587) -
Change in valuation allowan: 4,74¢ 8,45: (1,177
Other (315) (330) (325)
Provision for income taxe $ 11 $ 2,47¢ $ 7,28F

Tax expense for 2010 is current state taxes anddo® it is deferred taxes. The tax expense foB28@omprised of $0.2 million
current state taxes and $7.1 million of deferre@sa

Deferred Tax Assets and Valuation Allowance

Deferred tax assets reflect the tax effects ofapetrating losses (“NOLs”}ax credit carryovers, and temporary differencesvben th
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for ficial reporting purposes and the amounts usednfoonie tax purposes. The
significant item of our deferred tax assets is\d&tifrom our Federal NOLs. We have approximatel$.$2nillion federal income t:
benefits at December 31, 2010 derived from $73/8omiFederal NOLs at the U.S. statutory tax rate34%, available to offset futu
taxable income, some of which have limitations dee as prescribed under IRC Section 382. Our N@llsexpire in varying amoun
between 2011 and 2030 if not used, and those expisawill cause fluctuations in our valuation allance. The components of .
deferred tax assets are as follows:

December 31

2010 2009
Deferred tax asset
Estimated future value of NOI
- Federa $ 2510 $ 23,11«
- State 3,26( 3,86:
Research and development tax cre 234 194
Deferred program fee reven 18z 611
Stock-based compensatic 13,08( 10,50¢
Other, ne 30 41
Total deferred taxe 41,88¢ 38,321
Valuation allowanct (41,88%) (38,32))
Net deferred tax assets $ - $ =

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependenh diptre earnings, if any, the timing and amountwfich may be uncertain. Valuat
allowances are placed on deferred tax assets wheartainty exist on their near term utilization.ribdic reviews are made by us on
valuation allowances and fluctuations can occunsthfluctuations may be reflected as income taxess or benefits in the period they oc
In 2008 we concluded that it was likely that we Vdoiie able to utilize $1.2 million of these defeftex assets based upon the economics
King Agreement and we reduced the valuation allaedoy that amount. In 2008 $11.9 million of defdrtax assets were used to offset
2008 federal and state tax liabilities. In 2009, in@eased the valuation allowance by $2.5 milfionthe then available deferred tax asset:
placed a valuation allowance against the 2009 dipgreesults. We continue to place a valuationvedloce against the current yesadperatin
results and at December 31, 2010, 100% of the meféncome tax assets are offset by a valuati@walhce due to uncertainties with respe
future utilization of net operating loss carryfords. If in the future it is determined that amounit®ur deferred income tax assets would li
be realized, the valuation allowance would be redun the period in which such determination is enadd a benefit from income taxes in ¢
period would be recognized.
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Uncertainty in Income Taxes

We adopted FASBE statement regarding accounting for uncertainiméome taxes which defined the threshold for reigg the benefits
tax-return positions in the financial statementSraere-likely-thannot” to be sustained by the taxing authorities. @lwmption of the stande
did not result in establishing a contingent taility reserve or a corresponding charge to rethiearnings. At each of December 31, 2
2009 and 2008, we had no liability for income tasariated with uncertain tax positions. Our practidl be to recognize interest and pena
related to uncertain tax positions in interest eggeand other non operating expense, respectiédyfile federal and state income tax retc
In the normal course of business the Company igestto examination by these taxing authoritiesth/ew exceptions, we believe we are
longer subject to U.S. federal income tax examamatifor years before 2009 and for state incometaxninations for years before 2007.

NOTE G — EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

401(k) and Profit-Sharing Plan
We have a 401(k) and Profit-Sharing Plan (the “Bldar our employees. Employees may elect to makesé lwntribution of up to 15%
their annual earnings. The Plan provides that tbenfiany can make discretionary matching contribstiequal to 25% of the first 6%
employee contributions for an aggregate employe#ribation of 1.5%, along with a discretionary ptefharing contribution. We did r
contribute matching or profit sharing contributidos the Plan in years 2010, 2009, and 2008.

Stock Option Plans

We maintain various stock option plans. A summdrguwr stock option plans as of December 31, 200092 and 2008, and for the years 1
ended consisted of the following:

Years Ended December :

2010 2009 2008

Number  Weighted  Number  Weighted  Number  Weighted
of Average of Average of Average
Options Exercise Options Exercise Options Exercise

(00Cs) Price (00Cs) Price (00C' s) Price
Outstanding, beginnin 3,671 $ 5.9( 2,96¢ $ 4.9: 1,85¢ $ 2.6(
Grantec 64¢ 3.3¢ 1,312 6.3¢ 1,16( 9.5¢
Exercisec - - (525) 1.3C - -
Forfeited or expired (77) 10.1C (84) 7.98 (50) 23.6¢
Outstanding, ending 4,24: $ 5.4C 3,671 $ 5.9C 2,96¢ $ 4.9¢
Options exercisabl 3,628 $ 5.71 2,712 $ 5.4¢ 2,21t $ 3.2¢€

The following table summarizes information abounwested stock options outstanding at December@IQ:2

Number of
Options  Weighted
Not Average
Exercisabl Fair
(000”s Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 95¢ $ 6.77
Grantec 64¢ 3.17
Vested (899) 4.37
Forfeited or expired - -
Outstanding at December 31, 2010 715 $ 3.64

We estimate the option’s fair value on the datgaint using the Black - Scholes option-pricing mo@ack-Scholes utilizes assumptic
related to volatility, the riskree interest rate, the dividend yield (which iswamed to be zero, as we have not paid any castiedids) an
price. The riskfree interest rate is derived from the U.S. Treasueld curve in effect at the time of grant. Thepected life of the grants

derived from historical factors. The assumptiosediin the Black Scholes model to determine faluwesdor the 2010 and 2009 stock op
grants were:
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2010 2009

Expected dividend yiel 0.C% 0.C%
Risk-free interest rate 3.5%1t03.% 2.4%to3.%
Average expected volatilil 11% 124%
Expected term (year: 10 10
Weighted average grant date fair va $ 3.1¢8 % 6.0€

As of December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008 the agtgeégainsic value of the option awards vested %2l million, $4.8 million, and $1C
million, respectively. In addition, the aggregatérinsic value of option awards exercised during ylear ended December 31, 2009 was
million. The total remaining unrecognized compeiosatost related to the unvested option awardsezehber 31, 2010 was $2.6 million
is expected to be recognized over the next twemty-fmonth remaining requisite service period. Them@any recognized stodiase!
compensation cost from the option awards of $518amj $8.2 million, and $3.7 million during the sres ended December 31, 2010, 2009
2008, respectively. Stodkased compensation from option awards in the amafu$it.4 million and $1.7 million and $0.6 millias included i
research and development expense in the years &wtasinber 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectivebekStased compensation from opt
awards in the amount of $4.4 million, $6.5 millicemd $3.1 million is included in general and adstiitive expenses in the years er
December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively.

Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan
We have a Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan (“20@URPlan”) for our employees and nemployee directors. Vesting of an RSU entitles
holder to receive a share of common stock of then@my on a distribution date. A summary of the R8&h as of December 31, 2010, 2(
and 2008, and for the years then ended consistéa: dbllowing:
Years Ended December :

2010 2009 2008

Number Number Number Number
Number of Vested Number of Vested of of Vested

of RSUs RSUs of RSUs RSUs RSUs RSUs
Outstanding, beginning 3,31¢ 3,112 3,00( 2,97( 2,95( 2,95(
Granted - - 33C - 50 -
Exercisec - - - - - -
Vested - 15E - 142 - 20
Forfeited or expired - - (17) - - -
Outstanding, endin 3,31¢ 3,267 3,31¢ 3,112 3,00( 2,97(C

The stock-based compensation cost to be incurreth@®RSUs is the RSU’s fair value, which is the keawprice of the Company’commo
stock on the date of grant, less its exercise ddst. fair value of the RSU grants made in 2009 20@8 was $2.1 million and $0.4 millic
respectively. The weighted average fair value ofJR®utstanding at end of 2010, 2009 and 2008 was5$3$3.75 and $3.49 per aw:
respectively. The total remaining unrecognized cengation cost related to the unvested RSU awardsiaied to $0.3 million at Deceml
31, 2010. The Company recognized compensationfamst the RSU awards of $1.0 million, $1.0 millicemd $0.2 million, during the ye:
ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, resplgctiBeockbased compensation from RSU awards in the amou®®.8f million and $0.
million is included in research and developmentesge in the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2&§$ctively and no stodiase!
compensation in 2008. Stotlased compensation from RSU awards in the amoub®.@f million, $0.8 million, and $0.2 million isdluded ir
general and administrative expense in the yearscebecember 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectidelyelated tax benefits were recor
in calendar year 2010, 2009, or 2008.

The 2005 RSU Plan provides that upon a change mraloof the Company or upon termination of an ewypk's employment with tt
Company without cause, vesting will accelerate lledRSUs will fully vest. Absent a change of cohtomefourth of vested shares of comn
stock underlying an RSU award will be distributedftér payment of $0.01 par value per share) onalgnl of each of 2011, 2012, 2013
2014. If a change in control occurs, the vestedeshanderlying the RSU award will be distributedoatabout the time of the change
control. On January 1, 2011, 0.54 million vestddrss were distributed to our employees and 0.2Bomishares were withheld by {
Company upon our employees’ election to exchanddsi satisfaction of $1.0 million withholding tabligations.
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NOTE H — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Securities and Class Action Litigation

A lawsuit captionedang v. Acura Pharmaceuticals, et,abas filed on September 10, 2010 in the UnitedeStBistrict Court for the Northe
District of Illinois, Eastern Division (Case 1:10-65757) against us and certain of our current anthdo officers seeking unspecified dame
on behalf of a putative class of persons who pwetiaur common stock between February 21, 200®\arit22, 2010. The complaint allec
that certain Company officers made false or mistgpdtatements, or failed to disclose material Saict order to make statements
misleading, relating to our AcurdXwith Niacin Tablet product candidate, resultingvinlations of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exute
Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), Rule 1@under the Exchange Act and Section 20(a) of tkeh&hge Act. The complaint further alle
that such false or misleading statements or omisdi@ad the effect of artificially inflating the pe of our common stock. We believe thai
allegations in the complaint are without merit amend to vigorously defend the litigation

On October 25, 2010, Kiley Hill, a purported stockter of the Company filed a shareholder derivatiedon in the Circuit Court of Co
County, lllinois, Chancery Division captionétill v. Acura Pharmaceuticalst al. (Case No. 2010-C#6380), against our directors and cel
of our executive officers, generally relating t@ ttame events that are the subject of the clammditigation described above. The compl
purports to be brought on our behalf and namessua aominal defendant. The complaint seeks unspdcifamages from the individi
defendants for breaches of fiduciary duty, abuseoaittrol, gross mismanagement, contribution an@nmagification, waste of corporate as:
and unjust enrichment for actions occurring fronteast February 21, 2006 through April 22, 2010bstantively similar complaints captior
Hagan v. Acura Pharmaceuticaet al. (Case No. 2010-CH-46621) aNdwell v. Reddiclet al (Case No. 2010-CKi6873) were filed in tt
Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois, ChanceryJision, by other purported stockholders of the Campon October 27, 2010 and Octc
28, 2010, respectively. We have agreed to a temypstay of these derivative actions

Reglan® /Metoclopramide Litigation

Halsey Drug Company, as predecessor to the Compasybeen named along with numerous other compasiasdefendant in cases file
three separate state coordinated litigations pendim Pennsylvania, New Jersey and California, eetpely captionedIn re:
Reglai® /Metoclopramide Mass Tort LitigationPhiladelphia County Court of Common Pleas, Janliarm, 2010, No. 0199Tn re: Regla®
Litigation , Superior Court of New Jersey, Law Division, AtianCounty, Case No. 289, Master Docket No. ATL-863-10; ant
Reglai®/Metoclopramide CasesSuperior Court of California, San Francisco Courdydicial Council Coordination Proceeding No. 4
Superior Court No.: CJC-1004631. In this product liability litigation agaimsumerous pharmaceutical product manufacturersdastdbutors
including the Company, plaintiffs claim injurieofn their use of the Regla® brand of metoclopramide and generic metoclopramidethe
Pennsylvania state court mass tort proceeding, B@dawsuits have been filed against the CompanyHaisey Drug Company alleging t
Plaintiffs developed neurological disorders assaulteof their use of the Reglan®and and/or generic metoclopramide. Plaintiffgehaot ye
served any individual lawsuits upon the Companyhim New Jersey and California actions. In the latgsfiled to date, Plaintiffs have r
confirmed they ingested any of the generic metaelopde manufactured by the Company. The Compasgodiinued manufacture ¢
distribution of generic metoclopramide more thany¥ars ago. The Company believes these claimsvéilheut merit and will vigorousl
defend these actions.

Employment Agreements
Each of Andrew D. Reddick, Robert B. Jones andrP&teClemens are parties to employment agreemeasmtaining similar terms expirit
December 31, 2011, which provide annual salarieg3@f7,000, $300,000 and $211,500, respectivel\ ihle payment of annual bonuses, ir
discretion of the Company’Compensation Committee or Board of Directorsetiam the achievement of targets, conditions, carpaters ¢
set by the Compensation Committee or the Boardiedinrs.

Statutory Minimum Withholding Tax Obligations
Under our stock option plans and our 2005 RSU phain,employees may elect to have shares withheddh @ercise of options and upon
exchange of RSUs in satisfaction of the statutoimyimum withholding tax obligations of such emplogeelating to such option exercise:
RSU exchanges. On January 1, 2011, certain of mptayees elected to have 0.29 million of their camnnshares withheld by the Comp.
upon the exchange of RSUs in satisfaction of th&i® million withholding tax obligations.
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Financial Advisor Agreement
In connection with our August 2007 Unit Offeringewsre obligated to pay a fee to our then finarailsisor upon each exercise of the wart
issued in the Unit Offering, in proportion to thember of warrants exercised. The amount of theagseiming 100% exercise of the remai
1.2 million warrants is $0.25 million. We have meflected this obligation as a liability in our cmlidated financial statements as the pay
is contingent upon the timing and exercise of tlerants by each of the warrant holders. Suchiffegy, will be paid to the financial advis
and be offset against the equity proceeds as themta are exercised.

NOTE | — SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDIT ED)

Three Month Period Ende

Calendar Year 2010 Mar. 31 Jun. 3C Sept. 3C Dec. 31
Total revenue (i $ 2,04C $ 62C $ 29z % 35¢
Loss from operation (4,035 (3,18¢) (2,56€) (2,939
Net loss (ii) (4,035 (3,197) (2,559 (2,927
Loss per common share - basic and diluted $ (0.09) $ (0.09) $ (0.0%) $ (0.06)
Calendar Year 2009 Mar. 31 Jun. 3C Sept. 3C Dec. 31
Total revenue (i $ 1,380 $ 897 $ 80¢ $ 75C
Loss from operation (2,197 (3,25¢6) (3,970 (4,077)
Net loss (ii) (1,277) (6,520) (3,959 (4,084
Loss per common shar- basic and dilute $ (0.09) $ (0.149 $ (0.09) $ (0.09)

(i) See Note A(7) for revenue recognition.
(ii) We recorded a valuation adjustment on our defiincome tax assets and recorded income taxnegpaf $2.5 million in quarter
ended June 30, 2009.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
EXHIBIT INDEX

The following exhibits are included as a part a$ thnnual Report on Form 10-K or incorporated het®y reference.

Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

3.1

3.2

3.3

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Regist (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1th@ Registrans Forn
8-K filed on June 25, 2009

Certificate of Amendment Reverse Splitting CommaocE and restating but not changing text of parAdfcle Il of
Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporabgcReference to Exhibit 3.1 to the ForiK filed December 4, 2007

Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (incorporatedegrence to Exhibit 3.1 to the Forr-K filed on March 3, 2009

License, Development and Commercialization Agrednisnand between the Registrant and King Pharménzds
Research and Development, Inc. (incorporated reete to Exhibit 10.1 of the Formk8filed on November 2, 200
(confidential treatment has been requested foigutof this Exhibit)

Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of Augys2@®y “PIPE SP/") among the Registrant, Vivo Ventures F
VI, L.P., Vivo Ventures VI Affiliates Fund, L.P. ¢lectively “Vivo”), GCE Holdings LLC, and certain other signatc
thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 0.the Form -K filed on August 21, 2007

Form of Warrant dated as of August 20, 2007 issugduant to the PIPE SPA (incorporated by referéadexhibit 4.:
to the Form -K filed on August 21, 2007

Form of Warrants dated May 5, 2003 issued to G&lariners Ill, L.P., Galen Partners Internationt), l.P., Galel
Employee Fund llI, L.P., Essex Woodlands Health tyees Fund V, L.P. and Care Capital Investmentd.H, anc
others) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.the October 2007-3).

Amended and Restated Voting Agreement dated aglofury 6, 2004 among the Registrant, Care Cdpitalstment
II, LP, Essex Woodlands Health Ventures Fund V, LGalen Partners Ill, L.P., and others (incorpetay reference
Exhibit 10.5 of the Form-K filed on February 10, 2004 (tt“February 2004 Form-K")).

Joinder and Amendment to Amended and Restated ¢/ @tgreement dated November 9, 2005 between thesRaxgi
GCE Holdings, Essex Woodlands Health Ventures RurdP., Care Capital Investments Il, LP, GalentRers IlIl, L.P
and others (incorporated by reference to Exhibil 10 the Form -K filed November 10, 2005

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Votingekgent dated as of January 24, 2008 between thistfae
and GCE Holdings, LLC (incorporated by referenc&xibit 10.1 to the Form-K filed January 28, 2008

Registrar’s 1995 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Purchdae fhcorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 te
Registrant's Registration Statement on Fo-8, File No. 3.-98396).

Registrar’s 1998 Stock Option Plan, as amended (incorpottayectference to Appendix C to the Regist’'s Prox
Statement filed on May 12, 200¢
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Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description

10.10 Registrar’s 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan, as amen@szbrporated by reference to Appendix B to
Registrar’s Proxy Statement filed on April 2, 200

10.11 Registrants 2008 Stock Option Plan, as amended on June ZB, @0corporated by reference to Appendix B to
Proxy Statement filed on May 12, 200

10.12 Executive Employment Agreement dated as of Augst 2003 between the Registrant and Andrew D. Ré&
(“Reddick”) (incorporated by reference to Exhib@.2 to the Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Jun€304 (the June
2004 1¢-Q")).

10.13 Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement betwées Registrant and Reddick, dated May 27, :

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to theel2004 1-Q).

10.14 Second Amendment to Executive Employment Agreembetveen the Registrant and Reddick, dated May Q@&
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.116 to Foem 10K for the year ending December 31, 2005 filed obrEary
21, 2006 (th¢‘2005 Form 1-K")).

10.15 Third Amendment to Executive Employment AgreemegtiMeen the Registrant and Reddick, dated Decenthez(D!
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tloenk ¢-K filed December 23, 2005 (tt*December 2005 Forrr-K”)).

10.16 Fourth Amendment to Executive Employment Agreentetiveen the Registrant and Reddick dated Decenthe20D’
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to Bteem 10K for the year ending December 31, 2007, filed cardh 5
2008).

10.17 Fifth Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemeatween the Registrant and Reddick executed Julg00f

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Barm &K filed on July 10, 2008

10.18 Executive Employment Agreement dated as of AprR@)4 between the Registrant and Ron J. Spivepr(iacated b
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the June 200-Q).

10.19 Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement datedelnber 22, 2005 between Registrant and Ron Jey
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to trec@mber 2005 Formr-K).

10.20 Second Amendment to Executive Employment Agreerdated December 19, 2007 between the RegistranRand)
Spivey (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10t83he Form 1K for the year ending December 31, 2007, file(
March 5, 2008)

10.21 Third Amendment to Employment Amendment to Exeautigmployment Agreement executed July 9,
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to oarrf &-K filed on July 10, 2008

10.22 Amended and Restate Employment Agreement effeesivef January 1, 2009 between the registrant amdJR8pive
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Barm &K filed on July 10, 2008

10.23 Employment Agreement dated as of March 10, 1998vdwrn the Registrant and Peter Clemens (“Clemens’
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 to Foem 10K for the period ending December 31, 2007, filedAqumil 15,
1998).

10.24 First Amendment to Employment Agreement made aslwfe 28, 2000 between the Registrant and Cle

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44A to Registrar’'s 2005 Form 1-K).
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Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description

10.25 Second Amendment to Executive Employment Agreerbetween Registrant and Clemens, dated as of Jabu200!
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to tregRtrant's Form-K filed January 31, 2005

10.26 Third Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemeatted December 22, 2005 between Registrant and @k
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to trec@mber 2005 Form-K).

10.27 Fourth Amendment to Executive Employment Agreendated December 16, 2007 between Registrant and ek
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to Hoem 10K for the year ending December 31, 2007, filed ocardh 5
2008).

10.28 Fifth Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemewreceited July 9, 2008 between Registrant and Cle
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to oarrk &K filed on July 10, 2008’

10.29 Employment Agreement dated as of March 18, 2008véxat the Registrant and Robert B. Jones (incorpdrh
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Forr-K filed on March 24, 2008

10.30 Consulting Agreement dated as of December 10, 2@d®een Registrant and Garth Boehm (incorporatecefarenc
to our Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2009 filed ondii&, 2010)

14.1 Code of Ethics (incorporated by reference to ExHiBi1 of the Form-K filed on December 10, 2007

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant (incorporated bgnafce to the Form -K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2
filed on March 15, 2007

*23.1 Consent of BDO USA LLP, Independent Registered ieuwatcounting Firm

*31.1 Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Executigfficer pursuant to Rule 13a-14 and 1B4l-of the Securitie
Exchange Act of 193¢

*31.2 Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Financi@fficer pursuant to Rule 13a-14 and 1B#l-of the Securitie
Exchange Act of 193¢

*32 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and ChiBfnancial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sectiorb@,3as adopte

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbi-Oxley Act of 2002

*Filed or furnished herewith.
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Palatine, Illinois

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referéndbe Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N88-1851653, 333-151620, 3333172

333-123615, 333-63288, and 33-98356) and on Fofn(I$a. 333146416) of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. of our repated March 1, 201
relating to the consolidated financial statements.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP
Chicago, lllinois
March 1, 2011




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Andrew D. Reddick, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Acura Pharmaceuticals, In

Based on my knowledge, this annual report doescontain any untrue statement of a material facomit to state a material f
necessary to make the statements made, in lighedfircumstances under which such statements mwade, not misleading with resp
to the period covered by this repc

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,ather financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disgte controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢t)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange Act Rt
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedurég tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidatubsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reipgr or caused such internal control over finahoégorting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable asseraegarding the reliability of financial repogirand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in ataoce with generally accepted accounting princijj

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantslassire controls and procedures and presentedsimgport our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls armtquiures, as of the end of the period covered lsyrdport based on st
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regigtsanternal control over financial reporting tloatcurred during the registral
most recent fiscal quarter (its fourth fiscal qegrtthat has materially affected, or is reasondiigly to materially affect, tr
registrant's internal control over financial refrogt and

The registrant's other certifying officer and | baglisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiomtefnal control over financi
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thatazaimmittee of the registrant's board of directfms persons performing the equiva
functions):

(@) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidteaability to record, process, summarize and itefieincial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdatin the registran
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 1, 201

/s/Andrew D. Reddicl

Andrew D. Reddicl
President and Chief Executive Offic




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Peter A. Clemens, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Acura Pharmaceuticals, In

Based on my knowledge, this annual report doescontain any untrue statement of a material facomit to state a material f
necessary to make the statements made, in lighedfircumstances under which such statements mwade, not misleading with resp
to the period covered by this repc

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,ather financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disgte controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢t)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange Act Rt
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f) ) for the registrant and ha\

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedurég tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidatubsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reipgr or caused such internal control over finahoégorting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable asseraegarding the reliability of financial repogirand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in ataoce with generally accepted accounting princijj

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantslassire controls and procedures and presentedsimgport our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls armtquiures, as of the end of the period covered lsyrdport based on st
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regigtsanternal control over financial reporting tloatcurred during the registral
most recent fiscal quarter (its fourth fiscal qegrtthat has materially affected, or is reasondiigly to materially affect, tr
registrant's internal control over financial refrogt and

The registrant's other certifying officer and | baglisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiomtefnal control over financi
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thatazaimmittee of the registrant's board of directfms persons performing the equiva
functions):

(@) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidteaability to record, process, summarize and itefieincial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdatin the registran
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 1, 201

/s/Peter A. Clemer

Peter A. Clemen
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi




EXHIBIT 32
CERTIFICATION OF

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
AND
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Andrew D. Reddick, certify, pursuant to 18 U.SI350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of #ibaBexley Act of 2002, that tt
Annual Report on Form 1K-of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the fiscal yeaded December 31, 2010 fully complies with tguirement
of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExcleaAgt of 1934 and that information contained intsémnual Report of Form 18- fairly
presents, in all material respects, the finanaialdition Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of the slptesented and results of operations of A
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the periods presented.

March 1, 2011 By: /s/Andrew D. Reddicl

Andrew D. Reddicl
President and Chief Executive Offic

I, Peter A. Clemens, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.850, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of theaBasOxley Act of 2002, that the Annt
Report on Form 16 of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the fiscal yeaded December 31, 2010 fully complies with thguirements ¢
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange & 1934 and that information contained in suamial Report of Form 18- fairly
presents, in all material respects, the finanaialdition Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of the slptesented and results of operations of A
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the periods presented.

March 1, 2011 By: /s/Peter A. Clemer

Peter A. Clemen
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi




